## **CORRECTIONAL SERVICE CANADA**

CHANGING LIVES, PROTECTING CANADIANS.



### RESEARCH REPORT

# Health and Well-being of Older Offenders on Conditional Release in the Community

2023 Nº R-453

ISBN: 978-0-660-47924-8 Cat. No.: PS83-3/453E-PDF

Ce rapport est également disponible en français. Pour en obtenir un exemplaire, veuillez vous adresser à la Direction de la recherche, Service correctionnel du Canada, 340, avenue Laurier Ouest, Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0P9.

This report is also available in French. Should additional copies be required, they can be obtained from the Research Branch, Correctional Service of Canada, 340 Laurier Ave. West, Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0P9.



# **Health and Well-Being of Older Offenders on Conditional Release** in the Community

Gregory P. Brown

Christopher Greco

Jane Barker

Kindra McMillan

Grace Tiersma

Institute for Applied Social Research (IASR)
School of Criminology and Criminal Justice
Nipissing University

&

Kaitlyn Wardrop

Geoff Wilton

Correctional Service of Canada

2023

The views expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect those of the Correctional Service of Canada.

#### Acknowledgements

The research reported here would not be possible without the willing cooperation and patience of the 65 men and women who volunteered to participate in the study, in hopes that the information they provided might help to better the community release planning and support for older persons released from prison and re-entering what can be a lonely and sometimes frightening outside world.

The research reported here also parallels a larger study of the health care needs and well-being of older persons in the federal prison system undertaken by the Correctional Service of Canada. With the support and assistance of those involved in this larger research study, including Dan Heurter, RN, Nursing Project Manager – Older Persons in Custody, and Sandra MacLeod, Senior Health Policy Analyst both of NHQ Health Services, Correctional Service of Canada, along with Dr. John Hirdes, School of Public Health and Health Systems, University of Waterloo and Dr. Samir Sinha, Director of Geriatrics, Sinai Health System, the researchers from the Institute for Applied Social Research (IASR) at Nipissing University received training in the use of the interRAI ED-CA health care assessment instrument used in both studies, input into the design of the semi-structured interview protocol used in the community study, and ongoing encouragement and support.

Guidance and organizational support for the research was provided by Interventions and Women Offenders Research, Correctional Service of Canada.

The research was funded under a Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the Correctional Service of Canada and the Institute for Applied Social Research at Nipissing University.

#### **Executive Summary**

**Key words:** Older offenders, conditional release, health care needs, community experiences.

Few studies have investigated the re-entry experiences and needs for health care and services among older offenders released from prison and living in the community, though in Canada and internationally older persons account for a growing proportion of offenders on release in the community. The current study reports on the results of in-person health care assessments and qualitative interviews with a sample of 65 older Canadian federal offenders aged 50 years or older on conditional release in the community, including men and women and those with Indigenous ancestry.

Compared to the chronologically older, non-offender, non-institutional population aged 65 or older, the older offender community sample participants are less likely to report problems with cognition or impairment in daily functioning, but are more likely to report mental health and alcohol abuse problems, along with dyspnea, recurring pain and traumatic injury.

The majority of older offender community sample participants report that the quality of health care services they received in the community is "10 times better outside" with better access to health care and other treatment services, and to more specialized treatment. Compared to long-term sentence offenders, recidivist and first time older offender participants are better able to reestablish connections with health care providers and to make use of family and friends to secure housing and employment. Compared to men, older women offenders have fewer financial resources, are more likely to experience their criminal record as a barrier to employment, to be unable to work due to disability, to have fewer family and other social supports, and are at greater long-term risk for institutionalized care. A majority of the Indigenous sample participants report that Indigenous resources in the community are important for their support and success in the community. Many of the older offender community sample participants demonstrate evidence of traumatic lives led and are often vulnerable to a poorer quality of life and more negative health outcomes compared to the older non-offender population.

The study findings point to the need to (1) conduct a broader study of older offenders in the community, (2) consider the experiences of older offenders on conditional release, in particular those who have served long sentences in their care and supervision in the community, and for women, (3) consider additional culturally-based initiatives to support all Indigenous offenders on conditional release, given the reliance on these by older Indigenous offenders and (4) pursue bolstering of policies that would include health care needs as a factor in parole release decision-making for older offenders, similar to policies enacted in a number of European and other correctional jurisdictions

#### **Table of Contents**

Acknowledgements	ii
Executive Summary	iii
List of Tables	v
List of Appendices	viii
Introduction	8
Older Offenders	2
Older Offenders on Release in the Community	2
Objectives of the Current Study	4
Method	5
Participants	5
Measures/Material	10
Procedure/Analytic Approach	12
Results	14
interRAI ED-CA Assessment	14
Participant Responses to Interview Protocol Questions	22
Discussion	39
Overview of Findings	39
Women on Release in the Community	41
Indigenous Ancestry and Community Release	41
Limitations of the Study	42
Conclusions	42
References	44

#### **List of Tables**

Table 1 Number of sample participants ( $N = 65$ ) and number unable to contact, did not show	w, or
declined or withdrew from interview, by location and region	6
Table 2 Demographic and offender characteristics of sample participants $(N = 65)$ and	
population of community correctional non-participants ( $N = 3,536$ )	8
Table 3 interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants $(N = 64)^a$	15
Table 4 Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions	s (N
$=65)^{c}$	23

#### **List of Appendices**

Appendix A: Older Offenders in the Community Interview Protocol	54
Appendix B: InterRAI Assessment Results, by Gender and by Indigenous Ancestry	76
Appendix C: Assessment Results, Community Sample Participants, and Comparison with Ol	lder
Offender Institutional Population	88
Appendix D: Community Sample Participant Responses to Structured Interview Protocol	
Questions by Gender and Indigenous Ancestry	96

#### Introduction

In Canada (Iftene, 2017; Public Safety Canada, 2019; Zinger & Landry, 2019) and internationally (Canada, Barrenger, Robinson, Washington & Mills, 2019; Rope & Sheahan, 2018; UNODC, 2009), increases in the numbers of older persons in prisons are a growing concern for correctional systems. Recent studies of older offenders in prisons have documented both their complex needs for physical, psychological and social supports (Allenby & McConnell, 2012; Baidawi & Trotter, 2016; De Smet et al., 2017; Galli, Bretscheider, Elger, Handtke & Shaw, 2016; Maruschak, Berzofsky & Unangst, 2015; Nolan & Stewart, 2017; Stewart et al., 2015; Nowotny, Cepeda, James-Hawkins & Boardman, 2016; Williams, Ahalt, & Greifinger, 2014) and the challenges of providing specialized services for older offenders within current correctional institutions (Cipriani, Danti, Carlesi & Di Fiorino, 2017; du Toit et al., 2019; Zinger & Landry, 2019). Recent systematic reviews of research on older persons in prisons have been reported in Brown (2018) and Di Lorito, Völlm and Dening (2017).

Fewer studies have investigated the re-entry experiences and needs for services of older offenders released from prison and living in the community, though in Canada (Public Safety Canada, 2019) and internationally (Angus, 2015; Fazel, Hope, O'Donnell, & Jacoby, 2001; Maschi, Morrisey & Leigey, 2013a; Wyse, 2018) older persons account for a growing proportion of offenders on release in the community.

#### **Older Offenders**

There is no international consensus on what defines an 'older' offender, though age 50 is most common (Curtice, Parker, Wismayer & Tomison, 2003; Loeb and AbuDagga, 2006; Maschi, Viola & Sun, 2013b; Scaggs, 2017; UNODC, 2009). Criminal lifestyle factors and the circumstances of incarceration have been found to prematurely age those in prison by as much as 5 to 15 years compared to the other age groups in the general, non-offender population (Kouyoumdjian, Andreev, Borschmann, Kinner & McConnon, 2017; USDOJ, 2016; Williams et al., 2014). In Canada, age 50 is used to define an older offender (Iftene, 2016; Nolan & Stewart, 2017; Zinger & Landry, 2019).

The older prison population is composed of three main groups: (1) prisoners who grow old serving long-term sentences, (2) recidivists, those earlier convicted and imprisoned and now returned to prison at older age for committing a new offence, and (3) first time older prisoners with no prior criminal history (Gobeil, Allenby & Greiner, 2014; Nowotny et al., 2016; Stanback, 2011; UNODC, 2009). In Canada, the number of older persons in federal prisons has increased by almost 50% in the last decade, and older offenders now account for 25% of the federal prison population (Zinger & Landry, 2019).

#### **Older Offenders on Release in the Community**

Older offenders account for an even greater proportion of those on release from prison in the community, with 3,468 or 39% of Canadian federal offenders on conditional release in 2020 being 50 years of age or older (Public Safety Canada, 2022). Compared to younger offenders, older offenders on release in the community are less likely to breach release conditions and are a lower risk for recidivism (Gaes, Bales & Scaggs, 2016; Gobeil, 2008; Handtke, Wangmo, Elger & Bretschneider, 2017; Thompson, Forrester, & Stewart, 2015), but demonstrate unique, agerelated challenges in re-adjusting to living in the community.

Parole officers may be poorly prepared to address the complex needs of older offenders re-entering the community, including physical and cognitive limitations that can prevent their participation in conventional supervision and community-based programs and treatment (Codd & Bramhall, 2002; Higgins & Severson, 2009; Maschi et al., 2013b; Williams & Abraldes, 2007; Williams et al., 2010). Older offenders may require specialized social work services to facilitate access to chronic care or supported living facilities, or to negotiate access to specialized medical, mental health, or geriatric assessment and treatment services (Williams & Abraldes, 2007). Lack

of social skills and financial resources, and resistance from the community may limit the extent to which older offenders can participate in age-appropriate community recreation programs and activities (Maschi et al., 2013b; Shapiro & Schwartz, 2001; Yorston & Taylor, 2006).

First time and recidivist older offenders returning to the community may be able to access pre-existing social networks that can be an important resource in facilitating access to housing, employment and other community supports (Visher & Travis, 2003; Western, Braga, Davis & Sirois, 2015). Long-term sentence older offenders are more likely to experience social isolation on release into the community, and greater difficulty in accessing community resources (Aday & Krabill, 2012; Maschi et al., 2013b; Stewart, 2000; USDOJ, 2016; Western et al., 2015). Older women offenders in particular are poorly prepared to return to the community, as they have fewer job skills, less income and are more vulnerable to victimization in the community (Aday & Krabill, 2011; Flores & Pellico, 2011; Gelsthorpe, Sharpe & Roberts, 2007; Shantz & Frigon, 2009).

Older offenders face significant challenges in finding employment on release into the community, including ageism, lack of education and employment skills, having a criminal record, and release conditions that may restrict them from engaging in some types of occupations (Maschi, Morgen, Westcott, Viola & Koskinen, 2014; Metzger, Ahalt, Kushel, Riker & Williams, 2017; Porporino, 2014; Psick, Ahalt, Brown & Simon, 2017; Nowotny et al., 2016; Scaggs, 2017). For many older offenders, the nature of their criminal offence (e.g. murder, assault, sexual offence) may deter potential landlords, including supported living facilities (nursing homes, long-term care facilities, seniors' residences) from making housing available to older offenders, placing them at risk for living in unstable housing, in poor or crime-ridden neighbourhoods (Clarke, 2017; Crawley, 2004; Gaes et al., 2016; Snyder, van Wormer, Chadha & Jaggers, 2009; Stewart, 2000; Wyse, 2018).

Access to an adequate income and to medical, dental and prescription medication benefits is a significant concern for older offenders in the community given the high prevalence of physical, mental health, and substance abuse disorders among this group (Visher & Travis, 2003; Visher & Mallik-Kane, 2007; USDOJ, 2016; Wyse, 2018). First time and recidivist older offenders returning to the community may be able to re-establish links with pre-existing health care and other treatment providers. Long-term sentence older offenders are more likely to rely on emergency rooms and clinics for health care, and to struggle to pay for medication and other

health care items (Clear, Rose & Ryder, 2001; Visher & Mallik-Kane, 2007; Williams et al., 2010; Wyse, 2018). Community mental health clinics may be reluctant to provide services to offenders, especially those with complex needs, including mental disorders in combination with substance use, antisocial personality disorder, or a record of serious violence or sexual offences (Corrigan, 2004; Frank, Wang, Nunez-Smith, Lee, & Comfort, 2014; Hoge, 2007; Snyder et al., 2009; Yorston & Taylor, 2006; Walker et al., 2013). Owing to the greater prevalence of physical and mental health problems and lack of financial resources among older women, they are especially likely to experience difficulties in accessing community health care and treatment resources (Aday & Farney, 2014; Aday & Krabill, 2011; Balis, 2007; Gelsthorpe et al., 2007). Higher rates of mortality among older offenders, including deaths due to drug overdose and suicide, have been reported (Kouyoumdjian et al., 2017; Pratt, Piper, Appleby, Webb & Shaw, 2006; Williams et al., 2010; Zlodre & Fazel, 2012).

#### **Objectives of the Current Study**

The current study reports on the results of in-person health care assessments and interviews exploring the re-entry experiences and needs for health care and other community services with a sample of 65 older Canadian federal offenders on conditional release in the community, including men and women and both Indigenous and non-Indigenous offenders. The objectives of the study are:

- to employ a standardized health care screening instrument, the interRAI ED-CA, to assess the health care, cognitive and social support needs of a sample of older offenders living in the community;
- 2. to employ a semi-structured interview protocol to assess access to, and needs for health care and other community services of the sample participants; and,
- 3. to collect unstructured, open-ended responses describing the re-entry and community living experiences of the sample participants.

#### Method

#### **Research Design**

An in-person assessment and interview methodology was employed to conduct the research (Cresswell; 2018; Olson, 2011; Stuckey, 2013). The interRAI ED-CA (Costa et al., 2017), a standardized health care screening instrument, was verbally administered by the interviewers to each of the sample participants, followed by the administration of a semi-structured qualitative interview protocol combining closed-ended questions about health and wellness, social support, housing, employment and finances, community resources, personal/emotional issues, and connection to culture/spirituality with open-ended questions designed to further probe participants' perceptions of their experiences in the community (Brinkman, 2017; Kelly, 2010).

The study was conducted under the terms of the Memorandum of Understanding (MOU) between the Correctional Service of Canada and the Institute for Applied Social Research (IASR) of the School of Criminology and Criminal Justice at Nipissing University. The Nipissing University Research Ethics Board (NUREB) reviewed and approved the study according to the Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans, including Chapter Nine – Research Involving the First Nations, Inuit and Métis Peoples of Canada (Government of Canada, 2014).

#### **Participants**

A non-proportionate quota sampling strategy based on known characteristics of the population of offenders aged 50 years or older and living in the community on conditional release was used to ensure representation from men, women and persons with Indigenous ancestry, and regional representation (Cresswell, 2018; Hoover et al., 2019; Morrow et al., 2007; Robinson, 2014). Over the course of the study participant recruitment period July 2019 — December 2019, Correctional Service of Canada staff regularly provided the IASR researchers with an updated list of the population of offenders on conditional release who met the study criteria. Parole offices in each of the regions with a sufficient number of potential participants were targeted for sample recruitment, including each of the quota groups of women, persons with Indigenous ancestry, men, and regional representation. An on-site contact at each targeted parole office was appointed to assist the researchers by contacting those who had been identified as

meeting the study criteria to solicit their participation and to arrange a time to meet with the researchers.

A total of N = 65 older offenders volunteered to participate in the study, with representation from each of the Atlantic, Quebec, Ontario, Prairie and Pacific regions of Canada. A breakdown of representation by region and participation rates is shown in Table 1.

The population of all offenders of ages 50 years and older in the community was selected for comparison purposes (N = 3,536). The interview participant and population groups were compared on demographics (sex, age, ethnicity, marital status) and offender characteristics (offence, sentence, and release types, criminogenic need and criminal history risk profiles). Differences between the interview participants and the population of older offenders on release may be due in part to oversampling women and Indigenous offenders for the interviews.

Table 1 Number of sample participants (N = 65) and number unable to contact, did not show, or declined or withdrew from interview, by location and region

Location	Region	Partic	ipants	Unab Conta Sho	ct/No	Decli With		To San Fra	nple
		%	(n)	%	( <i>n</i> )	%	(n)	%	(n)
Halifax/Dartmouth	ATL	4.6	(3)	9.1	(1)	-	-	5.2	(4)
Vancouver	PAC	27.7	(18)	36.4	(4)	-	-	28.6	(22)
Edmonton	PRA	30.8	(20)	27.3	(3)	100.0	(1)	31.2	(24)
North Bay Parole	ONT	6.2	(4)	-	-	-	-	5.2	(4)
Sudbury Parole	ONT	7.7	(5)	-	-	-	-	6.5	(5)
Toronto	ONT	7.7	(5)	9.1	(1)	-	-	7.8	(6)
Montreal	QUE	15.4	(10)	18.2	(2)	-	-	15.6	(12)
Total All Locations		100.0	(65)	100.0	(11)	100.0	(1)	100.0	(77)

The demographic and offender characteristics profile for the sample participants and the population of non-participants who met the study criteria is shown in Table 2. Owing to the intentional over-sampling of women and those with Indigenous ancestry, there is a statistically significant difference in the distribution of men and women  $\chi^2(1, n = 3601) = 4.040, p = 0.044)$  and for ethnicity  $\chi^2(2, n = 3601) = 15.042, p = 0.000)$  between the participant sample and the

population of non-participants. In addition, there is a statistically significant difference both in the distribution of release types  $\chi^2$  (3, n = 3599) = 8.050, p = 0.044) with day parole more common amongst the sample participants, and for community functioning needs at release ( $\chi^2$  (4, n = 2,540) = 10.677, p = 0.030), with the sample participants demonstrating higher levels of need for support. Though the average age of the sample participants at release is statistically significantly greater than among the population of non-participants (t (3599) = 2.200, p=.028), there is no significant difference in average age between sample and population at the midpoint of the study period July 2019 – December 2019. For most of the demographic and offender characteristics, there is no significant difference in their distribution between the sample participants and the population of non-participants.

Table 2 Demographic and offender characteristics of sample participants (N=65) and population of community correctional non-participants (N=3,536)

Characteristic	Partic	nple cipants	•	ation of rticipants	$\chi^2$	df
	%	(n)				
Sex						
Women	12.3	(8)	6.2	(219)	4.040*	1
Men	87.7	(57)	93.8	(3317)		
Average age at release in years (s.d.)	56.3	(10.5)	53.3	(10.9)	t = 2.200*	3599
Average age at study midpoint (s.d.)	61.2	(7.8)	61.4	(8.6)	t = 0.186	3599
Ethnicity						
Indigenous	30.8	(20)	14.0	(497)	15.042***	2
White	58.5	(38)	76.0	(2686)		
Other	10.8	(7)	10.0	(353)		
Marital status						
Single	43.1	(28)	36.9	(1305)	1.137	3
Married/common-law	32.3	(21)	37.5	(1325)		
Separated/divorced/widowed	18.5	(12)	19.2	(679)		
Other/unknown	6.1	(4)	6.4	(227)		
Major admitting offence						
Homicide related	43.1	(28)	47.2	(1670)	4.667	5
Robbery	6.2	(4)	4.2	(147)		
Drug offences	6.2	(4)	11.5	(408)		
Assault/other violent offences	9.2	(6)	5.2	(184)		
Sexual offences	21.5	(14)	19.5	(690)		
Property/other non-violent offences	13.8	(9)	12.4	(437)		
Sentence type						
Indeterminate	46.2	(30)	46.2	(1634)	0.000	1
Determinate	53.8	(35)	53.8	(1902)		
Release Type						
Day parole	83.1	(54)	72.5	(2564)	8.050*	3
Full parole	1.5	(1)	7.7	(273)		
Statutory release	12.3	(8)	17.1	(604)		
Long term supervision	3.1	(2)	2.3	(82)		
*missing	_	-	0.4	(13)		
Criminogenic need level (at release)				` /		
Low	24.6	(16)	15.3	(542)	3.554	2
Medium	41.5	(27)	46.8	(1656)		_
High	26.2	(17)	24.6	(870)		
*missing	7.7	(5)	13.2	(468)		

Table 2 (cont'd) Demographic and offender characteristics of sample participants (N=65) and population of community correctional non-participants (N=3,536)

Characteristic		nple	•	ation of	$\chi^2$	df
		ipants		rticipants		
	%	(n)	%	(n)		
Criminal history risk level (at release)						
Low	13.8	(9)	13.7	(483)	0.053	2
Medium	36.9	(24)	35.3	(1247)		
High	41.5	(27)	37.8	(1338)		
*missing	7.7	(5)	13.2	(468)		
Community Functioning Need - Release						
Asset to community adjustment	3.1	(2)	2.6	(93)	10.667*	4
None	33.8	(22)	43.8	(1550)		
Low	18.5	(12)	10.9	(385)		
Medium	23.1	(15)	11.1	(391)		
High	3.1	(2)	1.9	(68)		
*missing	18.5	(12)	29.7	(1049)		
Employment Need - Release						
Asset to community adjustment	9.2	(6)	3.3	(118)	7.456	4
None	24.6	(16)	29.2	(1033)		
Low	27.7	(18)	22.1	(782)		
Medium	20.0	(13)	14.6	(517)		
High	-	-	1.0	(37)		
*missing	18.5	(12)	29.7	(1049)		
Marital/Family Need - Release						
Asset to community adjustment	1.5	(1)	2.2	(79)	3.410	4
None	27.7	(18)	30.6	(1081)		
Low	21.5	(14)	16.1	(569)		
Medium	21.5	(14)	16.7	(591)		
High	9.2	(6)	4.7	(167)		
*missing	18.5	(12)	29.7	(1049)		
Personal/Emotional Need - Release		•		•		
Asset to community adjustment	_	_	_	_	4.328	4
None	6.2	(4)	9.6	(338)		
Low	23.1	(15)	13.1	(463)		
Medium	33.8	(22)	32.7	(1158)		
High	18.5	(12)	14.9	(528)		
*missing	18.5	(12)	29.7	(1049)		

Table 2 (cont'd) Demographic and offender characteristics of sample participants (N = 65) and population of community correctional non-participants (N = 3,536)

Characteristic		nple ipants		ation of articipants	$\chi^2$	df
	%	(n)	%	(n)		
Substance Abuse Need - Release						
Asset to community adjustment	-	-	-	-	1.179	4
None	30.8	(20)	31.2	(1103)		
Low	18.5	(12)	14.9	(526)		
Medium	23.1	(15)	16.2	(574)		
High	9.2	(6)	8.0	(284)		
*missing	18.5	(12)	29.7	(1049)		

<sup>\*</sup> *p* < .05, \*\**p* < .01, \*\*\**p* < .001

#### Measures/Material

Paralleling a larger CSC Health Services study of the health care needs of older offenders in correctional facilities that was completed in November 2020, the interRAI ED-CA (Costa et al., 2017), was employed to assess the health care needs of the community sample participants. The interRAI Emergency Department Contact Assessment (ED-CA) is a brief assessment comprised of 39 clinical indicators and computational algorithms designed to identify common physical, cognitive and social issues that may require further attention or treatment (Costa et al., 2017). The assessment can be completed in approximately fifteen minutes, and identifies thirteen problem areas possibly requiring clinical intervention, along with yielding algorithm scores for four scales, including the Assessment Urgency Algorithm, Institutional Risk Scale (risk for admission to long-term care), Self-Reported Mood Scale and Pain Scale (Costa et al., 2017). The validity and reliability of the interRAI ED-CA have been established in international, multi-site studies (Brousseau et al., 2018; Costa et al., 2014; Hirdes et al., 2008; Wellens et al., 2011; 2012). The interRAI ED-CA has been used extensively in assessing the health, cognitive status and functionality in daily living activities of older adults seen in emergency rooms, and has proved valuable in informing geriatric care and discharge-planning processes (Costa et al., 2014; Devriendt et al., 2018; Gray et al., 2013). The use of this standardized assessment tool allows direct comparisons to published research involving Canadians ages 65 and older.

Combining additional interview questions on criminal history and perceptions of aging used in the larger correctional facilities study with questions derived from an extensive review of the literature on older offenders (Brown, 2018), and semi-structured questions adapted from

previous studies of federal offenders on community release (Brown et al., in review), a twenty-two page, seventy-three question semi-structured interview protocol was developed for administration to the sample participants (Appendix A) following completion of the interRAI ED-CA assessment. In addition to a number of broad, open-ended questions about participants' perceptions and experiences of older age and questions on demographic background and incarceration history, a combination of closed-ended, numerically-scored binary and nominal classification questions, followed up with open-ended responses, were asked of the sample participants spanning the categories Part A - Health and Wellness, Part B - Family Friends and Social Relationships, Part C - Housing and Community, Part D - Avoidance of Substance Misuse, Part E - Personal/Emotional and Part F - Connection to Culture/Spirituality.

The interview sessions took between thirty minutes and one and one-half hours to complete, and were manually transcribed by the researchers or, with the permission of the participant, digitally recorded. The interRAI ED-CA assessment data and numerically scored interview protocol data were later entered into the IBM SPSS Statistics 26 (IBM Corporation, 2019) program for analysis and reporting. Sample participants' verbal responses were transcribed and entered into the qualitative data analysis program NVivo 12 Pro (QSR International, 2018) for the purposes of coding, classifying and reporting responses. The transcribing and qualitative coding of verbal responses was reviewed by at least two of the IASR researchers to ensure interrater reliability (Campbell, Osserman & Pedersen, 2013).

Assessor Training. Members of the IASR research team were trained in the administration of the interRAI ED-CA by the Nursing Project Manager – Older Persons in Custody, NHQ Health Services, Correctional Service Canada, who was responsible for training and coordinating CSC nursing staff administering the instrument in the prison facilities. Over the course of the day long training session, IASR staff were familiarized with the interRAI ED-CA instrument and observation and data recording procedures, along with being presented with and evaluated on a number of example assessments.

To ensure consistency in completion of the interRAI ED-CA and the semi-structured interview protocol with the sample participants, two members of the research team were present at each of the scheduled sessions. The pairing of the researchers in teams of two at each of the parole office sites further helped to ensure the validity of the study findings by making certain that any questions about the interpretation of terms, or scoring or transcribing of the data could

be immediately addressed (Cho & Trent, 2006; Cypress, 2017; Jones, 2007; Patenaude, 2004; Wodak & Meyer, 2001).

#### **Procedure/Analytic Approach**

Participant Recruitment. Two members of the IASR research team were dispatched to conduct interviews at parole offices with a sufficient number of potential participants to ensure an adequate response rate, including women and those with Indigenous ancestry. In advance of each visit, an information letter was sent by the Director General, Strategic Policy and Planning CSC, explaining the research and asking for an on-site contact to be named to assist the IASR researchers in making arrangements to conduct the research. Upon arriving at each research site, the IASR researchers would meet with the designated on-site contact to review arrangements and to provide any clarification or additional information if required. With the support and assistance of the manager and staff, interviews with the older offender sample participants were conducted by the IASR researchers at the parole office in a room set aside for that purpose.

Informed Consent and Data Management. The IASR researchers provided volunteers with a verbal summary of the informed consent form, and encouraged them to ask questions about the procedures to be employed and the terms of their participation. All participants were then asked to sign a paper copy of the informed consent form, including permission to access their Offender Management System (OMS) file, prior to proceeding with the interviews. Participants were provided with a \$20.00 Tim Horton's gift card to compensate them for their time and travel to attend the interview. Debriefing procedures were outlined on the consent form. Interviews were conducted in English at the North Bay, Sudbury, Toronto, Vancouver, Edmonton and Halifax/Dartmouth parole offices, and in French or English at the Montreal parole office. A data file with the sample participants' demographic and offender characteristics was created by CSC Interventions and Women Offenders Research staff for the purposes of the data analysis and reporting of results.

Analytic/Statistical Techniques. Chi-square analyses and Student's t-tests of differences between means were conducted to identify statistically significant differences in demographic or offender characteristics between the sample participants and non-participant comparison population, using IBM SPSS Statistics 26 (IBM Corporation, 2019). Frequency counts and percentages are reported for the interRAI ED-CA assessment data and the numerically-scored

interview protocol questions.

Though the sample of older offenders employed in the current study is large in comparison to most qualitative studies (Kim, Sefcik & Bradway, 2016; Vasileiou, Barnett, Thorpe & Young, 2018) reported results should be interpreted with caution, and are best viewed as exploratory and suggestive of areas requiring broader study (Hunter & Howes, 2020).

#### **Results**

#### interRAI ED-CA Assessment

Results of the interRAI ED-CA assessment for the older offender community sample are reported in Table 3.

Only a small proportion of the community sample participants (6.3%) reported having stayed in hospital in the previous 90 days, with fifteen percent (15.6%) attending the emergency department in the last 90 days. A majority (70.3%) of participants reported none or fewer than two visits with a physician in the last 90 days. Participants reported low levels of functional impairment, including cognitive skills (0%), ability to understand others (95.3%); Activities of Daily Living (ADLs; < 4%); and Instrumental Activities of Daily Living (IADLs; < 5%). Risk for institutionalization in a long-term care setting was scored as low for the majority of participants (82.8%).

Reports of mental health or alcohol use problems among the community sample participants were infrequent, including any recent change in mental status (9.4%), hallucinations or delusions (0%) and consumption of alcohol to point of intoxication (3.1%). Reports of problems in mood as measured by the mood scale were more frequent (21.9%). Although a majority of the community sample participants rated their overall health as 'excellent' (12.5%) or 'good' (48.4%), and most were assessed as 'self-reliant' (93.8%), still a large proportion of participants in each group reported problems with dyspnea (42.2%), recurring pain as measured by the pain scale (68.7%) and traumatic injury during their lifetime (40.6%; ).

Compared to the non-offender, non-institutional population aged 65 or older, in which 88.4% of those included in the Canadian Long-Term Study on Aging rated their health status as "good' to excellent' (Raina et al., 2019), older offenders in the community sample rate their health status less positively (60.9%). On the other hand, older offenders living in the community are much less likely to report problems with cognition or impairment with ADL's or IADL's (<10%) compared to the non-offender older population, where it is estimated that 20% or more have moderate to severe impairment in cognitive functioning and in completion of ADL's and IADL's (Gilmour, 2011).

Table 3 interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants  $(N=64)^a$ 

ir	nterRAI Assessment	Commun	ity Sample
Ction A - Identification Information Gender  Women Men Other  Age group  50 – 54 55 - 59 60 - 64 65 - 69 70 - 74 75 - 79 80 and older  Lives alone		%	(n)
Section A - Identification In	formation		
Gender			
	Women	10.9	(7)
	Men	89.1	(57)
	Other	-	-
Age group			
	50 - 54	23.4	(15)
	55 - 59	25.0	(16)
	60 - 64	14.1	(9)
	65 - 69	21.9	(14)
	70 - 74	9.4	(6)
	75 - 79	4.7	(3)
	80 and older	1.6	(1)
Lives alone			
	No	68.8	(44)
	Yes	31.3	(20)
Section B - Intake and Initia	l History		, ,
Family/friends over	•		
·	No	93.8	(60)
	Yes	6.3	(4)
Support person for d	lischarge		. ,
** *	No	10.9	(7)
	Yes	62.5	(40)
	Lives in institutional setting	26.2	(17)
Receiving communi	ty health/social services last 90 days		, ,
Č	No	56.3	(36)
	Yes	17.2	(11)
	Lives in institutional setting	26.6	(17)
Acute hospital overr	night stay last 90 days		` /
•	No	93.8	(60)
	Yes	6.3	(4)
Emergency departm			` '
9	No	84.4	(54)
	Yes	15.6	(10)

Table 3 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants  $(N=64)^a$ 

interF	interRAI Assessment		Sample	
	Disertation with a section 00 days		(n)	
Physician visits previous	us 90 days			
	None	28.1	(18)	
	1-2	42.2	(27)	
	3-5	14.1	(9)	
	6 or more	15.6	(10)	
Time since last hospita	l visit previous 90 days			
	No hospitalization	93.8	(60)	
	31-90	4.7	(3)	
	15-30	-	_	
	8-14	-	_	
	In last 7 days	1.6	(1)	
	Transferred from other hospital	-	-	
ection C – Clinical Evaluation	1			
Cognitive skills daily d				
cogmuve same dany e	Independent	100.0	(64)	
	Modified/any impairment	100.0	(04)	
Ability to understand o	• •	_	_	
rionity to understand o	Understands	95.3	(61)	
	Usually	4.7	(3)	
	Often		(3)	
	Sometimes	-	_	
	Rarely/never	-	-	
A outo change in mente	l status from usual functioning	-	-	
Acute change in menta	No	90.6	(59)	
			(58)	
Inonemoralista en eli-	Yes	9.4	(6)	
mappropriate or abusiv	ve behaviour last 3 days	100.0	(61)	
	No Vac	100.0	(64)	
Danaga £111'	Yes	-	-	
Presence of hallucination		100.0	(64)	
	Not present	100.0	(64)	
	Present but not exhibited	-	-	
	Present and exhibited	-	-	
Presence of delusions l		400.0 (5.0)		
	Not present	100.0 (64)		
	Present but not exhibited	-	-	
	Present and exhibited	-	-	

Table 3 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants  $(N=64)^a$ 

interRAI A	Assessment	Commun	nity Sample	
		%	(n)	
Consumed alcohol to point	of intoxication last 7 days			
	No	96.9	(62	
	Yes	3.1	(2)	
Self-reported mood - little in normally enjoy?	nterest or pleasure in things you			
	Not in last 3 days	87.5	(56	
	Not in last 3 days, but often	3.1	(2)	
	feels that way			
	1-2 of last 3 days	4.7	(3)	
	Daily in last 3 days	4.7	(3)	
	No response	-	-	
Self-reported mood - anxiou	is, restless or uneasy?			
	Not in last 3 days	85.9	(55	
	Not in last 3 days, but often	1.6	(1)	
	feels that way			
	1-2 of last 3 days	4.7	(3)	
	Daily in last 3 days	7.8	(5)	
	No response	-	-	
Self-reported mood - sad, de	epressed, or hopeless?			
_	Not in last 3 days	82.8	(53	
	Not in last 3 days, but often	4.7	(3)	
	feels that way			
	1-2 of last 3 days	6.3	(4)	
	Daily in last 3 days	6.3	(4)	
	No response	-	-	
Self-reported health – in ger	neral, rate your own health			
	Excellent	12.5	(8)	
	Good	48.4	(31	
	Fair	21.9	(14	
	Poor	17.2	(11	
	No response	_	_	
ADL Self-performance and	•			
F :	Independent or set-up help only	96.9	(62	
	Supervision or physical assistance	3.1	(2)	

Table 3 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants  $(N=64)^a$ 

interRAI	Assessment	Communit	y Sample
		%	(n)
ADL Self-performance and	l capacity – personal hygiene		
	Independent or set-up help only	100.0	(64)
	Supervision or physical assistance	-	-
ADL Self-performance and	l capacity – dress lower body		
_	Independent or set-up help only	98.4	(63)
	Supervision or physical assistance	1.6	(1)
ADL Self-performance and	l capacity - locomotion		
	Independent or set-up help only	96.9	(62)
	Supervision or physical assistance	3.1	(2)
IADL Self-performance an	d capacity – managing medications		
-	Independent or set-up help only	95.3	(61)
14 D1 G 16	Supervision or any assistance	4.7	(3)
IADL Self-performance an			,
	Independent or set-up help only	95.3	(61)
	Supervision or any assistance	4.7	(3)
Falls		0= -	, <b></b>
	None last 90 days	87.5	(56)
	None last 30 days, but fell last 31-90	1.6	(1)
	One fall in last 30 days	3.1	(2)
	Two or more falls in last 30 days	7.8	(5)
Dyspnea (shortness of brea			
	Absence of symptoms	57.8	(37)
	Absent at rest, present with moderate activity	21.9	(14)
	Absent at rest, present with normal activity	14.1	(9)
	Present at rest	6.3	(4)
Pain symptoms		21.2	(2.2
	No pain	31.3	(20
	Present but not exhibited last 3 days	7.8	(5)
	Exhibited on 1-2 of last 3 days	15.6	(10
	Exhibited daily in last 3 days	45.3	(29

Table 3 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants  $(N=64)^a$ 

inter	RAI Assessment	ent Communit	
		%	(n)
Intensity of highest pa	in level present		
	No pain	29.7	(19)
	Mild	6.3	(4)
	Moderate	21.9	(14)
	Severe	25.0	(16)
	Horrible or excruciating	17.2	(11)
Nutritional issues – no last 3 days	oticeable decrease food or fluids consumed		
	No	95.3	(61)
	Yes	4.7	(3)
Nutritional issues – no	oticeable weight loss last 30 – 180 days		
	No	85.9	(55)
	Yes	14.1	(9)
Conditions/diseases munstable	ake cognitive, ADL, mood, behaviour		
	No	98.4	(63)
	Yes	1.6	(1)
Traumatic injury			
	No	59.4	(38)
	Yes	40.6	(26)
ction D – Discharge module			
Algorithm scores			
Self-reliance			
	0 (is self- reliant)	93.8	(60)
	1 (not self-reliant)	6.3	(4)
Assessment u	rgency		
	1 (low)	60.9	(39)
	2	7.8	(5)
	3	25.0	(16)
	4	4.7	(3)
	5	-	_
	6 (high)	1.6	(1)

Table 3 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants  $(N = 64)^a$ 

interRAI Asses	interRAI Assessment		Sample
		%	(n)
Mood Scale			
(	)	78.1	(50)
1		4.7	(3)
2	2	3.1	(2)
3	}	1.6	(1)
4	ļ	3.1	(2)
5	i	-	_
6	<u>,                                    </u>	3.1	(2)
7	1	3.1	(2)
8	}	-	
Ç		3.1	(2)
Pain (0-4)			
	(none)	31.3	(20)
1		7.8	(5)
2	2	20.3	(13)
3	}	25.0	(16)
4	(daily, excruciating)	15.6	(10)
Emergency Department r	evisit risk (1-5)		
1	(low)	75.0	(48)
2	2	18.8	(12)
3	}	1.6	(1)
4		1.6	(1)
5	(high)	3.1 (2)	
Institutional risk (1-5)	-		
1		82.8 (53)	
2		3.1	(2)
3		1.6	(1)
4		6.3	(4)
5		4.7	(3)

*Note:* One participant did not complete the interRAI ED-CA assessment during the interview, case excluded from table calculations

The frequency of falls among the older offender participants is comparable to that found (12.3% - 20%) among the older non-offender, non-institutional population (Gilmour, 2011). Revisits to the emergency room by older offender community sample participants (25.0%) are comparable in frequency to estimates among older non-offenders (20% - 40%) (Galvin et al., 2017; Sheikh, 2019). Visits to primary health care providers are similar in frequency among the older offender community sample and the non-offender, non-institutional older population, with

frequent visits more common among both offender and non-offender older women (CIHI, 2011; Hu et al., 2017).

Older offenders in the community sample are more likely to report mental health problems and alcohol use compared to the older, non-offender, non-institutional population, and older men offenders report four to eight times the frequency of symptoms of depression or anxiety compared to their older non-offender counterparts (Mosier et al., 2010; Raina et al., 2019). More than 40% of offenders in the community sample report experiencing chronic pain as measured by a score of 3 or more on the interRAI ED-CA pain scale, compared to estimates of 26.7% among those 65 and older living in the community (Ramage-Morin, 2008).

Distribution of the interRAI ED-CA results for the community sample participants by gender and by Indigenous ancestry are reported in Table B1 and Table B2 in Appendix B. Though overall there are few variations in the distribution of the symptoms or needs for care between those with Indigenous ancestry and those without, there are a number of substantive differences between men and women. Women participants (Table B1) in the older offender community sample are younger than the men, and less likely to have recently visited the emergency department or to have been hospitalized. On the other hand, women are more likely to have frequent (3 or more) visits to their physician in the last 90 days (W: 42.9%; M: 28.0%), to report

problems with bathing or climbing stairs, to have had two or more recent falls, and much more likely to report daily pain symptoms (W: 85.7%; M: 40.4%), or horrible or excruciating pain (W: 57.1%; M: 12.3%). Women participants are more likely to be assessed as not self-reliant (W: 28.6%; M: 3.5%) and at greater risk for institutionalization (W: 42.9%; M: 14.0%). Overall, women community sample participants report no mental health problems or use of alcohol, but demonstrate a greater number of physical health-and pain related problems compared to men.

Compared to results reported for participants in the larger correctional facilities study of the health care needs of older offenders (Hirdes et al., 2020) there are few differences in health care needs among the conditional release participants. However, those living in the community are statistically significantly more likely to report dyspnea  $\chi^2$  (3, n = 1486) = 8.037, p = 0.045) and notable weight loss in the last 30 – 180 days  $\chi^2$  (1, n = 1486) = 8.400, p = 0.004). Older offenders living in the community are also significantly more likely to report experiencing more intense levels of pain  $\chi^2$  (4, n = 1486) = 42.566, p = 0.000) and higher scores on the pain scale  $\chi^2$ 

(4, n = 1486) = 519.339, p = 0.000). Detailed results comparing the community and facilities samples are shown in Table C1 in Appendix C.

#### **Participant Responses to Interview Protocol Questions**

Older offender community sample participant responses to the interview protocol questions are shown in Table 4 for the entire sample. Responses by gender and by Indigenous ancestry are displayed in Table D1 and Table D2 in Appendix D. The structured, closed-ended question responses are followed by a summary of participants' opened-ended accompanying responses, grouped by major themes arising from the qualitative analysis.

Compared to the average age (61 years) of participants at the time of interview, more than one-half (50.8%) of the participants were less than 50 years at the time of their most recent incarceration. More than 40% of the participants reported serving sentences of 11 years or more on their most recent incarceration prior to release, and more than one-quarter (26.2%) of participants reported spending more than 20 years in prison during their lifetime. Most (77.0%) of the participants were 50 years or older at the time of their most recent release from prison, and nearly three-quarters (73.9%) had been in the community for five years or less at the time of interview. Nearly one-half (47.7%) of the participants responded that they grew old while in custody serving a lengthy sentence, though nearly another one-third (30.8%) reported being incarcerated for the first time in their 50's or 60's.

Compared to men (Table D1), women participants spent less time incarcerated on their most recent conviction, with most women reporting less than 5 years (W: 75.0%; M: 33.3%), and half of women (W: 50.0%; M: 29.8%) reported having served less than 5 years in total for all incarcerations. Women participants were more likely to have spent less than one year on release at the time of interview, and to report growing old while serving multiple admissions to prison. Indigenous participants (IA) (Table D2) were more likely than non-Indigenous participants (NI) to report being incarcerated less than 5 years on their most recent incarceration (IA: 46.7%; NI: 20.0%), and to have spent less than 5 years in total in prison for all convictions (IA: 42.9%; NI: 10.0%).

Table 4 Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions  $(N=65)^c$ 

Category/Question/Response		%	( <i>n</i> )
Background Information			
Age when most recently incarc	erated		
·	< 50 years	50.8	(33)
	50 - 64 years	35.4	(23)
	65 years or older	12.3	(8)
How many years have you been	n in prison on		
(a) mo	st recent incarceration		
	less than 5	38.5	(25)
	5 - 10	16.9	(11)
	11 - 15	13.8	(9)
	16 - 20	10.8	(7)
	more than 20	18.5	(12)
(b) tot	al for all incarcerations		
	less than 5	32.3	(21)
	5 - 10	12.3	(8)
	11 - 15	12.3	(8)
	16 - 20	13.8	(9)
	more than 20	26.2	(17)
Age when most currently relea	sed from prison		
	Less than 40 years old	10.8	(7)
	40 - 49	10.8	(7)
	50 – 59	43.1	(28)
	60 - 69	26.2	(17)
	70 – 79	7.7	(5)
	80 or older	-	-
How long have you been on re-	lease in community		
	Less than 1 year	30.8	(20)
	1-5 years	43.1	(28)
	6-10 years	7.7	(5)
	11 – 15 years	7.7	(5)
	16-20 years	1.5	(1)
	more than 20 years	7.7	(5)
How would you answer this qu			
9	stody due to serving a lengthy	47.7 16.9	(31)
*	Multiple admission and spent much of my adult life in		(11)
Was incarcerated for the	ne first time in my 50's or 60's	30.8	(20)

Table 4 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions  $(N=65)^c$ 

Category/Que	estion/Response	%	( <i>n</i> )
Part A – Health and Wellness			
How would you rate your over	erall health (1-10)?		
	1-2 (very poor/poor)	3.1	(2)
	3 – 4	13.8	(9)
	5 - 6	27.7	(18)
	7 - 8	38.5	(25)
	9 – 10 (very	15.4	(10)
Any physical conditions limit	ting your activities		
	No	32.3	(21)
	Yes	67.7	(44)
Do you have any special dieta	ary needs?		
	No	75.4	(49)
	Yes	24.6	(16)
Do you have a family doctor?	?		
	No	21.5	(14)
	Yes	78.5	(51)
Do you take any medications	?		
	No	12.3	(8)
	Yes	87.7	(57)
How many prescription medi	cations are you currently taking?		
	None	12.3	(8)
	1 - 2	27.7	(18)
	3 - 4	29.2	(19)
	5 - 6	12.3	(8)
	7 - 8	7.7	(5)
	More than 8	9.2	(6)
Do you have a dentist?			
	No	58.5	(38)
	Yes	41.5	(27)
Do you have a mental health	- · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		
	No	60.0	(39)
	Yes	40.0	(26)
Do you have an addiction trea	atment specialist that you see?		
	No	72.3	(47)
	Yes	27.7	(18)

Table 4 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions  $(N=65)^c$ 

Category/C	Question/Response	%	(n)
How do you think your he	alth needs are being met (1-10)?		
	1-2 (very poorly/poorly)	6.2	(4)
	3 - 4	4.6	(3)
	5 - 6	13.8	(9)
	7-8	33.8	(22)
	9 – 10 (very	41.5	(27)
Part B – Family, Friends and Socia	ul Relationships		
Do you currently receive s	upport from family members?		
, ,	No	33.8	(22)
	Yes	66.2	(43)
Involved in intimate relation release?	onship now or at some point during your		
	No	60.0	(39)
	Yes	40.0	(26)
Do you have any children	?		
	No	29.2	(19)
	Yes	70.8	(46)
Do you socialize with frien	nds often?		
	No	35.4	(23)
	Yes	64.6	(42)
Part C – Housing and Community			
How rate your experience	living in community (1-10)?		
	1-2 (very poor/poor)	4.6	(3)
	3-4	1.5	(1)
	5 - 6	7.7	(5)
	7-8	38.5	(25)
	9 - 10 (very	43.1	(28)
Has criminal record limite	d ability to function in community?		
	No	38.5	(25)
	Yes	61.5	(40)
Does your older age limit	your ability to function in the		
	No	69.2	(45)
	Yes	30.8	(20)
Where you are living now,	is it a safe and stable living		
	No	6.2	(4)
	Yes	93.8	(61)

Table 4 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions  $(N=65)^c$ 

Category/Questic	n/Response	%	(n)
Do you see a time when you will situation?	be living in a supported living		
	No	58.5	(38
	Yes	41.5	(27
What is highest level of schoolin	g you completed?		
	Less than high school	26.2	(17
	Completed high school	21.5	(14
	Some	13.8	(9)
	Completed	18.5	(12
	Completed university	20.0	(13
	Other	-	
On your release did you find a jo	b in the community		
	No	32.3	(21
	Yes	67.7	(44
What is your current employment	t status?		
	Part-time	7.7	(5)
	Full-time	27.7	(18
	Unemployed	23.1	(15
	Casual employment	4.6	(3)
	Seasonal employment	-	-
	Self-employed	6.2	(4)
	Unable to work (disability)	9.2	(6)
	Retired	16.9	(11
	Other	4.6	(3)
Do you have sources of income of	other than job?		
	No	30.8	(20
	Yes	69.2	(45
What would you estimate your a	nnual income to be?		
	Less than \$30,000 per year	69.2	(45
	\$30,000 per year or more	26.2	(17
Do you have access to reliable tr	ansportation		
	No	-	-
	Yes	100.0	(65
Do you have access to technolog	-		
	No	4.6	(3)
	Yes	95.4	(62

Table 4 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions  $(N=65)^c$ 

	Category/Question/Response	%	( <i>n</i> )	
	Following release have you been enrolled in or completed any CSC programs?			
	No	46.2	(30)	
	Yes	53.8	(35)	
	ring release have you been enrolled in or completed any nor rograms?	1-		
	No	50.8	(33)	
	Yes	49.2	(32)	
Do you	continue to see a parole officer on a regular basis?			
	No	-	-	
	Yes	100.0	(65)	
	parole officer sensitive to any limitations you may have on your age?			
	No	41.5	(27)	
	Yes	56.9	(37)	
Are yo	u able to access leisure activities you would like to be a par	t	, ,	
ř	No	21.5	(14)	
	Yes	78.5	(51)	
Part D – Avoid	ance of Substance Misuse			
Have y	ou had any issues with substance misuse?			
	No	47.7	(31)	
	Yes	52.3	(34)	
Part E – Persor	nal/Emotional			
Do you	a feel safe in the community?			
	No	3.1	(2)	
	Yes	95.4	(62)	
Have y	ou been a victim of bullying or abuse?			
	No	89.2	(58)	
	Yes	9.2	(6)	
Do you	have someone you can reach out to if you need help?			
	No	4.6	(3)	
	Yes	95.4	(62)	
Do you	think you spend too much time on your own?			
	No	73.8	(48)	
	Yes	24.6	(16)	
Is lone	liness a problem for you?			
	No	80.0	(52)	
	Yes	18.5	(12)	

Table 4 (cont'd)

Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions  $(N = 65)^c$ 

Category/Question/Response		%	(n)
Part F – Connection to Culture/Spir	ituality		
Do you consider yourself co	onnected to your culture?		
	No	35.4	(23)
	Yes	84.6	(42)
Do you consider yourself a	religious or spiritual person?		
	No	18.5	(12)
	Yes	81.5	(53)
If you are an Indigenous pe in the community?	rson, do you use any cultural resource	es	
	Not applicable	66.2	(43)
	No	13.8	(9)
	Yes	20.0	(13)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>c</sup> Missing data <5%

Four open-ended questions were asked of the sample participants at the beginning of the interview protocol. The questions and main themes of their responses to the questions are presented below.

Q13. There are lots of views on what is an 'older' offender in terms of age. What do you consider to be an "older" person in CSC? (do you feel old yourself? Do you think it is about 'age' or about how you 'feel' in terms of being 'older'?)

Most of the community sample participants reported that they did not feel old "No, I'm older but I don't feel old," and instead expressed the sentiment that being 'older' is not about age, but a mental state, "It's how you feel, for sure age is an attitude." On the other hand, past lifestyles and the capacity of prison to expedite the aging process were consistent themes, especially among those who served long sentences:

Well since being incarcerated I've seen a lot of guys late 40s early 50s leading up to 60 and they look like they're 80 because of their lifestyle on the street. I had a pretty good lifestyle on the street so that makes a big difference.

Yeah, how your body is, what shape your body's in, your mentality and all that sort of stuff. You get old very quickly in jail... a lot of stress.

Q15. Does your age factor into your experience of living in the community? If so, how?

For the most part, participants did not believe that age had an important influence on their

experience in the community, even sometimes working to their advantage:

Well I guess in some ways it does because I get old age pension and, you know, I can live better on it than I could on the disability I got.

I guess you could say I've grown up a bit. As you mature I think you handle life better and you look at things, I guess you could say, a little bit wiser than when you are younger you know.

Still, a number of the community sample participants, in particular women, did note that physical disability, and age itself, could at times pose a barrier to getting around in the community, or in obtaining employment:

It's a lot more difficult for me to get around. It's going to get a lot more worse because of my disability and stuff like that.

Well you know getting out at my age, I'm in pretty good shape and I want to work, but it's difficult to get a job you know at my age.

Q16. In your view, is there anything that could be improved – anything that could be done to make your life as an older person in the community better?

Many of the sample participants expressed concern over lack of access to healthcare "Health care has been a struggle. There's things that aren't covered by MSP you know...and Corrections covers them for a while...but when I was no longer under their care except for supervision meetings all that goes. So my insulin and so on wasn't covered," and according to one of the female participants:

When it comes to being an ex-offender there is no healthcare other than what anybody else living in the community has so you're not hooked up with a doctor, you're not hooked up with mental health, you're not hooked up with an addictions counsellor. You're sent to organizations and agencies and put on waiting lists but there's nothing immediately available to address whatever issue you might be dealing with so you're coming out with an issue that hasn't been dealt with no place to go and nobody to turn to and you're on your own.

In addition, many of the participants pointed to a lack of adequate release planning and access to information about how to find housing "Give more information how to get an apartment…a lot more information about everything" and how to find supports in the community:

I don't know of any support groups for people over 50 for inmates that have been

incarcerated. I don't know of any programs like that. I haven't heard of a lot of programs for people that are older to rejoin the workforce. That's a good question to ask because age is a big thing joining the workforce, having the age bias, and then having the incarceration bias, you know having to disclose and stuff like that it's got to be tough.

I would like to see at least one person in the system in the parole office that all that person does is assist inmates that are coming out particularly long-term inmates. To assist them in the environment, healthcare, ID, your driver's license all of that stuff, and where to go and if they don't know take them there.

Q17. As you get older, what, if anything worries you about getting older while living in the community? (what do you worry about the most? Do you worry about getting older...getting sick...getting dementia, dying without supports around you, etc?).

A majority of the sample participants expressed concerns about their health "the usual you know, the effects of aging I suppose – health and lifestyle," having enough money to be able to afford to live in the community "I have to be able to make a good living to be able to save anything for when I'm not healthy enough to work," along with fears about the future "what worries me is if I were to get sick" and "Well the only thing that worries me is infirmity, you know like to end up in the nursing home...you know I hope that doesn't happen in my case." Finding adequate employment was frequently cited by participants as a concern, given the barrier represented by both their older age and their criminal record "Its kind of hard to find a reasonable job in your 50's...in your 50's they don't want guys" and "I can't go anywhere because I have a record and I can't tell you how many jobs I've applied for."

For those older offenders serving a shorter sentence, and able to maintain their social network while incarcerated, the return to the community is less stressful:

Not particularly. We have a family doctor that we have been established with for 20 years and he has access to a major hospital here in the city. For any hospital requirements that I might have because of my age I am covered under the Trillium drug benefit program so my drug expenses are essentially taken care, of except for \$100 deductible a year. Yeah I suppose the one thing that is missing in my view is some sort of dental care support and that's a combination of as a parolee and as an older person in general.

#### **Health and Wellness**

Only a small proportion of the community sample participants rated their overall health as very poor or poor (3.1%), while a majority (53.9%) rated their overall health as 7/10 or greater. For the most part, participants expressed positive views about their health, even in the context of dealing with a variety of chronic ailments:

Probably about a 7. I mean I'm getting older, I mean you know, I'm getting more like my bones ache more. I don't have any arthritis yet, but do you know I just ache more. Other than that, no I'm doing pretty good.

Probably an eight and a half or a 9. I have hypertension and I take medication for that but that's under periodic assessment by my family doctor. That's the only acute issue. There are a couple of background issues that have been diagnosed which don't require specific care or medication and are just under surveillance so to speak.

Most (67.7%) of the participants agreed that their physical condition did, however, place limits on their activity, ranging from hearing impairment, aching joints, bad back or hip, COPD, arthritis, diabetes and asthma to being overweight and having chronic pain, impacting on performance of a range of physical activities, including exercise generally, walking, lifting, climbing stairs and being able to work:

Yes, absolutely. I can't do steps very well. When I walk now I'm walking with a limp and I can't use the painkillers because I don't have the funds for that right now. Being a courier and driving I couldn't do it now. I'm just too old and there's too many things wrong with me physically.

Well I work for myself because you can't get a job you know because you have a criminal record. I always worked for myself and I was a painter and I had to stop working because of my shoulder.

Most of the participants reported receiving treatment for the health conditions responsible for limiting their physical activity, including being prescribed medication, especially pain medication, inhalers, cortisone shots, exercise and physiotherapy, seeing a chiropractor, diet and hearing aids, or a wheelchair. Some of the participants complained about the cost of medications or other forms of treatment:

I was getting a chiropractor but I had to stop because my pension is very low. I had to stop because I couldn't afford it. My rent is more than half of my pension, so I'm really struggling with that.

Most participants (75.4%) did not report having any special dietary needs. A number did report having to follow a diabetic diet, and others reported following a vegetarian diet. The cost of eating well was a common theme, "I've got to pay my rent so it's just really like to do a really good meal plan I just can't afford it."

Compared to men participants (Table D1), women were both more likely to report physical conditions limiting their activities (W: 87.5%; M: 64.9%) and special dietary needs (W: 50.0%; M: 21.1%), while Indigenous participants (Table D2) were least likely to report physical

conditions limiting activities (IA: 28.9%; NI: 40.0%) or special dietary needs (IA: 20%; NI: 35.0%).

Access to health care services in the community was not a problem for most of the sample participants, with three-quarters (75.3%) rating their health care needs being met as 7/10 or higher, though women (Table D1) were somewhat less likely to give a positive rating for their health care needs being met. More than three-quarters of those interviewed reported having a family physician (78.5%), 40% a mental health professional they see, and more than one-quarter (27.7%) see an addiction treatment specialist. Indigenous participants (Table D2) were most likely to report seeing an addiction treatment specialist (IA: 40.0%; NI: 22.2%), "Yes, I see an elder... he's a drug and alcohol counsellor." A majority of participants (87.7%) take some form of medication, generally between one to four medications (56.9%), with pain medications the most common. The cost of non-funded health care services like a dentist, physiotherapist, chiropractor, counsellor or medical aids and devices, and the high cost of medications not covered under a private or government plan were consistent themes:

I was having some problems when I first got out about getting a knee brace and CSC wouldn't pay for it, so I still haven't got it. It costs like seven or eight hundred dollars.

I have to wait on prescriptions because I can't afford them. When I need them, sometimes I have to wait for pay day to come.

#### Family, Friends and Social Relationships

Two-thirds (66.2%) of the community sample participants report receiving support from family members, with children, siblings, ex-spouses and mothers playing key roles "My sister and my brother. Support for like everything but financial pretty much," "I have my mother who helps me monetarily and with regards to housing" and,

Oh yeah of course all of that. Like my son's mom, my ex-wife – she is probably my best friend, her and I are – she's been my biggest supporter through all of this nightmare. So I had two sons, my oldest son passed away two months ago. Both of my sons were really, really good supports.

For those without family, friends provide emotional and other types of supports "I have really, really good friends that I get my support from. They're like family." Less than one-half (40.0%) of participants report being involved in an intimate relationship while on release, with women (W: 25.0%; M: 42.1%) and Indigenous participants (IA: 20.0%; NI: 48.9%) least likely to report being involved in an intimate relationship. Among most of those with an intimate

partner, the relationship was generally reported to be positive, and often represented an enduring relationship "I don't know where I would be if I didn't have my husband to be honest with you" and "I live with my wife we just celebrated our 30th wedding anniversary the other day." However, engaging in an intimate relationship could also lead to stress and increased risk for problems living in the community, according to a woman participant:

Well I got married on my release. I was married for, well I'm still currently married, I'm just separated. I think when he left he said he wanted his old life back, because I guess corrections really, you know, affected his lifestyle kind of thing. I won't do it again I'll tell you that. I should have stayed single with my two dogs, they never get married and I'll never have a husband again.

More than two-thirds (70.8%) of the sample participants report having children, though only a small number reported currently living with their children. Most participants described their relationship with their children in positive terms, though many also reported relationships that were strained as a result of their incarceration. "I would say that is excellent now but I would also say that it affected my son a lot and so I had to rebuild some bridges." "No I don't talk with my daughter often, her husband is not very supportive of her talking to me on a regular basis," and:

I think right now the best relationship I have or the best way of being a father is not being a father. She grew up. My ex-wife remarried, so she had a father that she grew up with so it was better for me to step away. The best way of me being a father is not being a father. Right now I choose that.

Most (64.6%) of the participants reported socializing with friends, though not always on a frequent basis. "Around here there's probably about one friend, my neighbour, I go to his place he'll go to my place whatever he's just across the street so that's about the only one." Most friendship activities were informal in nature, and finding someone to talk to who understands them was a common theme among the participants:

You know I can go to them and talk to them about my feelings, talk about what was going on, they could give a lot of good suggestions and just be there for me, right? That's the big thing, they're there for me. They never come to me for anything cuz, they're more you know, they could if they wanted to, but they're more, they're more supportive to me, right, which is great.

For a number of Indigenous participants (Table D2), connection to culture was an important aspect of socializing with others "I still go to Buffalo Sage and play cards with the girls... we go for coffee" and,

My friends are elders and I do a lot of ceremonies myself so therefore I'm sort of their guider cause my knowledge is vast, so a lot larger than most of them. So they like me to come to sweats, they like me to come to sun dances and they like me to come to different ceremonies just to talk.

A number of the participants also expressed an understanding of the risks that socializing with old friends could represent. "The only people that I know are cons or ex-cons right so if I want to change my life I would have to make new friends I guess."

#### **Housing and Community**

Most (81.6%) of the community sample participants rated their experience living in the community as 7/10 or greater, "Living in the community is the best isn't it - you know what I mean, I mean I've got a good job I've got everything going for me so I have nothing to complain about" and "I've got a wonderful support system. I've been drug and alcohol free now for uh going on 8 years so." For those who rated their experience less positively, adjusting to life in the community, getting appropriate identification, access to health care and supports, finding employment, and meeting the requirements of their release conditions were reported as stressful experiences.

A majority of the sample participants (61.5%) did report that their criminal record was a significant barrier to finding employment, especially women (W: 87.5%; M: 57.9%), "A lot more employers are doing criminal record checks as well so then you can't even apply for those really." In addition, having a criminal record was mentioned as a problem for applying to rent an apartment, or in becoming involved in volunteer work. Less than one-third (30.8%) of the participants reported that their older age limited their ability to function in the community, with physical limitations commonly associated with aging most frequently cited where there was an impact, "To a point I mean it's a normal thing of aging you know like I can bend down to tie my shoes but it's just harder getting up."

Almost all (93.8%) of the community sample participants reported living in a safe and stable living arrangement, including living in a half-way house in some undesirable neighbourhoods, "I don't like the neighbourhood but the supports are good the house itself is good the staff are okay it's just in a bad neighbourhood I guess." Most participants reported living alone, in a private home or apartment, and pointed out how important their place of residence was in supporting their success in the community, "I feel safe here. All my amenities are very close like anywhere from like Walmart to fancy restaurants to No Frills, to shopping and

even to changing busses to all over the city so I love it." For those living in a private home with others, children and partners were most commonly mentioned. A small number of participants reported living alone in a retirement home.

Most participants did not see a time when they would be living in a supported living situation (58.5%), though most also said they did not want to think about the possibility, "Well I'm hoping I can look after myself until I pass over you know. I hope I can stay where I am and not go to a nursing home." Among those who do foresee living in a supported care accommodation (41.5%), most were resigned to its inevitability. "I'm going to say yes but I have a feeling my youngest son will tell me no because he's always told me he'll look after me no matter what. But I don't want to be a burden on my boys. So I'll probably say yes." Women participants (Table D1) were more likely to foresee living in supported housing (W: 75.0%; M: 36.8%) at some point in the future, while Indigenous participants (Table D2) were least likely to believe they would end up living in a supported living situation (IA: 25.0%; NI: 48.9%).

Nearly three-quarters (73.8%) of the sample participants completed high school or some form of post-secondary education, and 20% reported they had completed university. More than two-thirds (67.7%) found a job when released from prison, though only 27.7% found full-time work. Age, and inability to do physical work was a common theme among those who could not find full-time employment. "Actually right now I'm on short term disability but it's going to have to go to permanent, like they're going to have to let me go because I am a fall risk," and "Yeah I found a couple [of jobs] but I found it too hard to do with the medical problem." More than one-quarter (26.1%) of the participants were disabled or retired. Among those who were unemployed (23.1%), most reported it can take a long time after release to find a job. "Searching for work right now yep and I have faith that I will have a job before the end of the month or next month." Women participants (Table D1) were more likely (W: 25.0%; M: 7.0%) to report being unable to work due to disability, and none of the women reported being retired.

More than two-thirds (69.2%) of the sample participants reported having sources of income other than from a job, including CPP/QPP, OAS, GIS, employment pension, or military pension, though women (Table D1) were least likely to report non-job related income (W:37.5%; M:73.7%). A majority (69.2%) of participants reported an annual income of less than \$30,000. Almost all of the participants reported being able to pay their monthly bills, though at times money was tight, "Right now things are tight but I mean we'll be all right I guess." For others,

old debts and lack of income are a serious problem, "Nope, nope, less. I'm in poverty. I'll put it that way." All (100%) participants reported having access to reliable transportation, and almost all (95.4%) to communications technologies such as a telephone/cellphone and the internet, "Right now I just depend on my phone, right which, the phone you can do everything on." Both access to transportation and technology were identified as important for employment purposes, for maintaining contact with family and friends, for accessing community services, and for entertainment purposes.

Only about one-half of the community sample participants reported being enrolled in any CSC programs (53.8%) or other types of community programs (49.2%), though most women participants (Table D1) reported being involved with CSC (W: 87.5%; M: 49.1%) and non-CSC programs (W: 87.5%; M: 49.1%) during their release. Many participants, especially men, reported they no longer needed programs. "Oh no, that's all done. I don't need to do that anymore." Other participants, especially women, continue to enroll in both CSC programs and others offered in the community, including AA and NA, Circle of Support and Accountability, Indigenous programs and a variety of resume writing, job skills and employment programs. All of the participants (100%) report seeing their parole officer on a regular basis, and almost all participants expressed positive sentiments about the relationship with their parole officer. "Yes, yes. She's strict but keeps me in line. I like that," and "He's going through the steps that he needs to fulfill his end of the situation and at the same time I'm being very careful to follow all of the conditions properly and as a result he's been very good." More than one-half (56.9%) of participants report that their parole officer was sensitive to any limitations they might have based on their age. "She's willing to research to look at other avenues. If I can't get it done one way she'll try to help me to find other ways to get it completed whatever the task may be," while many others observed that they had no limitations related to their age.

Most of the sample participants (78.5%) report having access to leisure activities in the community, though sometimes release conditions could limit where or what types of leisure activities can be engaged in, "I can, but I had to turn them all down because of my conditions on parole." Other limitations on engaging in leisure activities include health concerns, "Walking is about it I can do right now," and finances, "Well if you don't have the money you're not going to be able to do much of anything." A wide range of leisure activities were mentioned by participants, including walking, going to the gym, spending time with family and friends,

watching movies and television, playing video games, playing the guitar, pursuing hobbies and going out to bingo. A number of the participants reported engaging in volunteer work, "I helped with the volunteer work at the SPCA community veterinarian clinic for people that are on like disability or welfare and stuff like that that have dogs. They get their needles for free." Most of the participants noted how important "keeping busy" was to being successful on release, "It gives me a routine, routine and the social aspect you feel part of the community."

#### **Avoidance of Substance Misuse**

About one-half (52.3%) of the community sample participants reported having had issues in dealing with substance misuse while on release in the community, though many others reported never having had a problem with substance misuse. Indigenous participants (Table D2) were most likely to report issues with substance misuse (IA: 75.0%; NI: 42.2%). Problems with alcohol misuse were most commonly reported, followed by marijuana and heroin, and the risks that substance misuse pose for living successfully in the community were well understood "It probably will be an issue for me the rest of my life and I have to stay on top of it. it's sent me back a couple of times."

#### Personal/Emotional

Most (95.4%) of the sample participants report feeling safe in community, especially in comparison to being in prison, "I've only been safe in the last 6-7 years really." A small number of the participants reported being bullied based on having a criminal record, either by their employer treating them unfairly, or by law enforcement ignoring vandalism or theft committed against them.

When asked to describe themselves, most participants voiced positive images of themselves, as helpers "Um, I'm a kind, generous person. I would give you the shirt off my back," easygoing "Just a nice, easy-going guy," honest "I'm honest, straightforward, that's about it," and friendly, "I think I have to say I'm a personable guy, I get along well with everybody." Some participants noted that they did not always view themselves positively, "Well I don't drink or use anymore. I feel like a totally different person," and others credited their transformation to spiritual beliefs, "I've got a lot of good qualities. I believe in the Seven Grandfathers teachings and I practice them."

Almost all (95.4%) of the sample participants reported they had someone they could reach out to for help in a crisis, including family (sisters, sons, daughters, cousins, wife, husband,

brother, parents, girlfriend), church pastor, friends, boss at work, landlord, Elders and parole officer. One participant expressed the view that being a 'lifer' itself could be seen in positive terms:

I have family yeah. I have some people and there's always CSC because I'm a lifer they can't let me go and that's the one benefit I do have as a lifer is that you know they're stuck with me for life.

Nearly one-quarter (24.6%) of community sample participants believe they spend too much time on their own, and 18.5% reported that loneliness was a problem. For some, being alone did not mean they were lonely, "I'm not lonely. Like I said, I have two dogs and I go out once in a while, I talk to my neighbours, I talk to the kids, but I'm not lonely." While for others loneliness stems from loss, "I miss my wife, it's only been two years, they say with time it gets easier."

Most participants report being hopeful for the future, and many report having dreams and plans for the next five years, including owning their own home, being financially independent, running their own business, raising horses, being able to retire, staying healthy and possibly living abroad. For others, "I'm living one day at a time and just enjoying what I have."

#### **Connection to Culture/Spirituality**

Most (84.6%) of the sample participants report being connected to their culture, and most (81.5%) also consider themselves to be a religious or spiritual person. Many of the Indigenous participants (Table D2) report being in touch with their culture and making use of cultural resources in the community (65%), including "Friendship Centre, the elders on the reservation, the First Nations," and place a high value on spiritual practices, "I would say it [my participation in spiritual activities] has a lot to do with the strength that I have and the hope that I have," and "It's been very positive and you know being able to have access to the stuff... I mean the sweat lodges and healing circles and medicine people, and uh... just overall a spiritual inclined people." For those who do not have an Indigenous ancestry, culture and spirituality/religion are not reported as important influences on their release in the community, "I don't really follow it. I didn't grow up with it and I'm doing fine without it so I don't think it's really affected me," and "Well I'm sure if I went to church – but then, no, not really."

#### Discussion

#### **Overview of Findings**

According to results reported in the literature from interRAI ED-CA assessments conducted with participants from the chronologically older, non-offender, non-institutional population aged 65 or older, the older offender community sample participants are less likely to report problems with cognition or impairment in daily functioning, but are equally likely to be at risk for falling (Gilmour, 2011; Statistics Canada, 2020), to visit the emergency room, and to attend appointments with their primary health care provider (Galvin et al., 2017; Hu et al., 2017; Sheikh, 2019). Older offender sample participants are more likely than the older non-offender population to report mental health and alcohol abuse problems, along with higher rates of dyspnea (42.2%), recurring pain (68.7%) and traumatic injury (40.6%) (Ramage-Morin, 2008; Van-Mourik et al., 2014). Though less likely than the older non-offender population to rate their health positively, still nearly two-thirds (61.3%) of older offender sample participants rated their health as good to excellent (Raina et al., 2019).

Many of the findings previously reported in the small body of international and Canadian studies of older offenders in the community are paralleled in the present study. Compared to long-term sentence offenders, recidivist and first time older offender participants were better able to re-establish connections with health care providers, mental health and addiction treatment providers, pharmacies and social services on release from prison, and to make use of family and friends to secure housing and employment (Visher & Travis, 2003; Western et al., 2015).

Most older offender participants reported that the quality of health care services they received in the community was "10 times better outside" and "100% better in the community", with better access to health care and other treatment services, and to more specialized treatment:

Totally different. I mean, you have access to everybody out here, right? It's just a matter of which one you wanna go to, a doctor, dentist, psychologist, psychiatrist, whatever. So you have much more access out here right.

Among a number of those participants who had grown old while serving lengthy terms in prison, the perspective on health care in the community could, however, be different:

It's harder to get services here [in the community] because in prison, its ordered so it's pushed more where you have a better chance of receiving it than you would here, because of the vast majority of the waiting lists.

Well if I needed hearing aids on the inside I would have had them and there wouldn't have been any questions asked. But because I'm in the community and on parole, CSC doesn't want to pay for them.

Most of the older offender sample participants reported that access to treatment programs, transportation and technology, housing and even employment was very good, though on occasion physical limitations due to aging, or having a criminal record, could pose barriers to engaging in employment or leisure activities. Compared to the older non-offender, non-institutional population, community sample participants have similar levels of educational achievement (Statistics Canada, 2019) and are equally likely to be employed (Statistics Canada, 2017a), but have lower annual incomes (Statistics Canada, 2016).

Only about one-half of the sample participants reported being enrolled in or completing CSC or other types of programs after release. All (100%) of the sample participants report meeting with their parole officer on a regular basis, and most (56.9%) report that their parole officer is sensitive to limitations they may have based on age, though others reported they did not really have any limitations:

Oh yes, yes she is she checks with me you know to see if I can come into the office or if she should come over or whatever you know.

I don't think I really feel like I have limitations due to age, so I don't express any of that to the parole officers, and so they haven't really been faced with trying to address that.

More than one-half (52.5%) of the sample participants report having issues with substance misuse, more than double the rate observed in the older non-offender population (Statistics Canada, 2017b). Participant reports of spending too much time on their own or being lonely are similar in proportion (20%) to those found in the older, non-offender population (Statistics Canada, 2015). Most participants (84.6%) report being connected with their culture.

Most sample participants rate the experience of living in the community, and access to health care and other services as significantly better than the prison experience. Living in the community, the older offender community sample participants appear to have many of the same age-related experiences as the chronologically older non-offender, non-institutional population, though their greater prevalence of mental health problems and substance misuse, dyspnea, traumatic injury and pain, combined with the stigma of their criminal record and fewer financial resources render older offenders on conditional release in the community, in particular those who

have served long sentences, vulnerable to a poor quality of life and negative health outcomes (Aday & Krabill, 2012; Wyse, 2018)

#### Women on Release in the Community

Older women offenders on conditional release and older women non-offenders in the population make more frequent visits to their health care provider compared to men (CIHI, 2011). According to the interRAI ED-CA assessment, older women offenders are especially likely to find the adjustment to re-entering the community challenging, given their greater likelihood of experiencing functional limitations, falls, and pain, their more frequent need to contact their physician, and their greater risk for requiring institutionalized care (Aday & Farney, 2014; Aday & Krabill, 2011; Andrew, Mitnitski & Rockwood, 2008; Balis, 2007; Gelsthorpe et al., 2007). All (100%) of the women sample participants report having a family doctor, and all are taking prescribed medications.

Compared to older men participants, women were younger (<60), and more likely to be recidivists. Women sample participants reported fewer financial resources including being less likely to have pension income, and are more likely to experience their criminal record as a barrier to employment, to be unable to work due to disability, and to have fewer family and other social supports available to them, matching the findings from other research (Aday & Krabill, 2011; Flores & Pellico, 2011; Gelsthorpe et al., 2007; Shantz & Frigon, 2009).

#### **Indigenous Ancestry and Community Release**

Among community sample participants with Indigenous ancestry, few report physical limitations based on their physical condition, or special dietary needs. Older Indigenous offender participants are mostly likely to report issues with substance misuse (IA: 75.0%; NI: 42.2%). A majority (60.0%) of older Indigenous offenders report finding Indigenous resources in the community as important for their support and success in the community:

It's been very positive you know, being able to have access to the stuff. I mean the sweat lodges and healing circles and medicine people, and overall a spiritual inclined people.

I have numerous people on my support network who are in my phone. My daughter's my number one support. My parole officer. I have numerous Elders on my support network and leaders in the AA program.

Being Aboriginal my family is tight so no matter how many years we've been apart I go home to them tomorrow and they'll all be there to support me.

#### **Limitations of the Study**

With an average age at the study midpoint of 61 years, the older offender community sample represents a 'younger' older offender population, and only 10 (15.4%) of the sample participants were older than age 70. Consequently, the sample results cannot speak to the health status and community experiences of the 'older' older offender population, in particular those 80 years of age and older who are typically most likely to experience declining health and loss of cognitive and functional capacity and more likely to require living supported living accommodations. Given the longer life expectancy of women at birth of approximately 6 years (Tjepkema, Bushnik & Bougie, 2019), and so greater long-term risk of requiring supported living assistance and accommodation (Statistics Canada, 2012), it is another limitation of the current study that no women over the age of 70 years participated in the sample.

As an in-person assessment and qualitative interview study, the older offender community sample (N = 65) is large in comparison to most qualitative studies, but reported results should still be interpreted with caution, and seen as exploratory and suggestive of areas requiring broader study (Hunter & Howes, 2020). The use of two-person assessment and interview teams, along with two-person transcription, NVivo coding, and coding validation ensured that coding of qualitative responses was consistent, supporting both the reliability and the validity of the findings. In addition, the findings do reflect the results from other studies of older offenders in the community.

#### **Conclusions**

Though their experiences of living in the community are similar in many respects to the chronologically older, non-offender, non-institutional population, many of the older offender community sample participants also demonstrate evidence of traumatic lives led, of substance misuse, mental disorder, traumatic injuries, breathing problems and chronic pain, conditions exacerbated by lengthy periods of incarceration, disrupted family and social relationships, stigma and loss of community acceptance, and lack of financial resources, all of which are compounded for older women offenders on conditional release. Consequently, older offenders are vulnerable to a poorer quality of life and more negative health outcomes compared to the older non-offender population. Confronted by prospect of living in what is often an unwelcoming community, older offenders with Indigenous ancestry turn to Indigenous culture practices for support in the community. Nevertheless, the older offender community sample participants almost without

exception rate their quality of life, including their health care, as superior to what they experienced while incarcerated.

The findings from the in-person assessment and interview of 65 older offenders on conditional release in the community point to the need to (1) conduct a broader study of older offenders in the community that includes older age groups, those 70 years and older, in order to more fully describe and understand the experiences of older offenders, (2) be sensitive organizationally to the sometimes stressful and negative experiences of older offenders on conditional release, in particular those who have served long sentences and for women, (3) consider additional culturally-based initiatives to support all offenders with Indigenous ancestry on conditional release, given the reliance on these by older offenders with Indigenous ancestry and (4) pursue bolstering of policies that would include health care needs as a factor in parole release decision-making for older offenders, similar to policies enacted in a number of European and other correctional jurisdictions (Ahalt, Trestman, Rich, Greifinger & Williams, 2013; Allen, 2016; Cartwight, 2016; Handtke et al., 2017; Psick et al., 2017; Williams, Goodwin, Baillargeon, Ahalt & Walter, 2012).

#### References

- Aday, R. H., & Krabill, J. J. (2011). Women Aging in Prison: A Neglected Population in the Correctional System. Boulder, CO: Lynne Rienner Publishers.
- Aday, R., & Farney, L. (2014). Malign neglect: Assessing older women's health care experiences in prison. *Journal of Bioethical Inquiry*, 11(3), 359-372. doi:10.1007/s11673-014-9561-0
- Ahalt, C., Trestman, R. L., Rich, J. D., Greifinger, R. B., & Williams, B. A. (2013). Paying the price: The pressing need for quality, cost, and outcomes data to improve correctional health care for older prisoners. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, *61*(11), 2013-2019. doi:10.1111/jgs.12510
- Allen, R. (2016). Global Prison Trends: 2016. London: Penal Reform International.
- Allenby, K. & McConnell, A. (2012). Older incarcerated women offenders: Social support and health needs. *Research at a Glance*. Number R275. Ottawa. ON: Correctional Service of Canada.
- Andrew, M. K., Mitnitski, A. B., & Rockwood, K. (2008). Social vulnerability, frailty and mortality in elderly people. *PLoS one*, 3(5), e2232. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0002232
- Angus, C. (2015). *Older Prisoners: Trends and Challenges*. NSW, Australia: NSW Parliamentary Research Service.
- Baidawi, S., & Trotter, C. (2016). Psychological distress among older prisoners: Associations with health, health care utilization, and the prison environment. *Journal of Correctional Health Care*, 22(4), 354-366. doi:1078345816669964
- Balis, A. F. (2007). Female prisoners and the case for gender-specific treatment and re-entry programs. In R. B. Greifinger (Ed.), *Public health behind bars: From prisons to communities* (pp. 320–331). New York, NY: Springer.
- Brinkman, S. (2017). The interview. Pp. 576-599 in Denzin, N.K. & Lincoln, Y.S. (eds.), *The Sage Handbook of Qualitative Research*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Brousseau, A. A., Dent, E., Hubbard, R., Melady, D., Émond, M., Mercier, É., ... & Wellens Nathalie IH. (2018). Identification of older adults with frailty in the emergency department using a frailty index: results from a multinational study. *Age and Ageing*, 47(2), 242-248. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afx168
- Brown, G.P., Greco, C., Barker, J., McMillan, K., Tiersma, G., Wardrop, K, & Stewart, L.A. (in review). Returns to Custody and Successful Releases: Comparison of Findings from Two Qualitative Studies of Federal Release. Ottawa, Ontario: Correctional Service of Canada.

- Brown, G.P. (2018). A Profile of Older Prisoners: Review of the Canadian and International Research Literature. Unpublished manuscript.
- Campbell J, Osserman J and Pedersen O (2013) Coding in-depth semistructured interviews: problems of unitization and intercoder reliability and agreement. *Sociological Methods and Research* 42(3): 294–320. doi: 10.1177/0049124113500475
- Canada, K. E., Barrenger, S. L., Robinson, E. L., Washington, K. T., & Mills, T. (2019). A systematic review of interventions for older adults living in jails and prisons. *Aging & Mental Health*, 1-9. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2019.1584879
- Cartwright, M. E. (2016). The silver tsunami: Aging prisoners, early release, guardianship and prisoner advocate initiatives for long term care beyond the prison walls. *Journal of Aging, Longevity, Law, and Policy*, 1(1), 6.
- Cho, J., & Trent, A. (2006). Validity in qualitative research revisited. *Qualitative Research*, 6(3), 319-340. doi: 10.1177/1468794106065006
- CIHI (2011). *Health Care in Canada, 2011: A Focus on Seniors and Aging* (Ottawa, ON : Canadian Institute for Health Information.
- Cipriani, G., Danti, S., Carlesi, C., & Di Fiorino, M. (2017). Old and dangerous: Prison and dementia. *Journal of Forensic and Legal Medicine*, 51, 40-44. doi:S1752-928X(17)30086-0
- Clear, T. R., Rose, D. R., & Ryder, J. A. (2001). Incarceration and the community: The problem of removing and returning offenders. *Crime & Delinquency*, 47(3), 335-351.
- Codd, H., & Bramhall, G. (2002). Older offenders and probation: A challenge for the future? *Probation Journal*, 49(1), 27-34.
- Corrigan, P. (2004). How stigma interferes with mental health care. *American Psychologist*, 59(7), 614 625. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.59.7.614
- Costa, A. P., Hirdes, J. P., Heckman, G. A., Dey, A. B., Jonsson, P. V., Lakhan, P., ... & Wellens, N. I. (2014). Geriatric syndromes predict postdischarge outcomes among older emergency department patients: findings from the interRAI Multinational Emergency Department Study. Academic Emergency Medicine, 21(4), 422-433. doi: 10.1111/acem.12353
- Costa, A., Hirdes, J., Ariño-Blasco, S., Berg, K., Boscart, V., Carpenter, C., ... & Jonsson, P. (2017). interRAI Emergency Department (ED) Assessment System Manual, For Use with the interRAI ED Screener (EDS) and ED Contact Assessment (ED-CA). interRAI; Washington DC.
- Crawley, E. (2004). Release and resettlement: the perspectives of older prisoners. *CJM*, (56), 32-33.

- Creswell, J. W. (2018). *Research Design: Qualitative, Quantitative, and Mixed Methods Approaches* 5<sup>th</sup> Edition. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Cypress, B. S. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research: Perspectives, strategies, reconceptualization, and recommendations. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, 36(4), 253-263. doi: 10.1097/DCC.0000000000000253
- De Smet, S., De Donder, L., Ryan, D., Van Regenmortel, S., Brosens, D., & Vandevelde, S. (2017). Factors related to the quality of life of older prisoners. *Quality of Life Research: An International Journal of Quality of Life Aspects of Treatment, Care and Rehabilitation*, 26(6), 1571-1585. doi:10.1007/s11136-017-1506-8
- Devriendt, E., Heeren, P., Fieuws, S., Wellens, N. I., Deschodt, M., Flamaing, J., ... & Milisen, K. (2018). Unplanned Readmission prevention by Geriatric Emergency Network for Transitional care (URGENT): protocol of a prospective single centre quasi- experimental study. *BMC Geriatrics*, 18(1), 244. doi: /10.1186/s12877-018-0933-x
- Di Lorito, C., Völlm, B., & Dening, T. (2018). Psychiatric disorders among older prisoners: A systematic review and comparison study against older people in the community. *Aging & Mental Health*, 22(1), 1-10. doi:10.1080/13607863.2017.1286453
- du Toit, S. H. J., Withall, A., O'Loughlin, K., Ninaus, N., Lovarini, M., Snoyman, P., ... & Surr, C. A. (2019). Best care options for older prisoners with dementia: a scoping review. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 31(8), 1081-1097. doi:
- Fazel, S., Hope, T., O'Donnell, I., Piper, M., & Jacoby, R. (2001). Health of elderly male prisoners: Worse than the general population, worse than younger prisoners. *Age and Ageing*, *30*(5), 403-407.
- Flores, J. A., & Pellico, L. H. (2011). A meta-synthesis of women's postincarceration experiences. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, and Neonatal Nursing*, 40(4), 486-496. doi:10.1111/j.1552-6909.2011.01256.x
- Frank, J. W., Wang, E. A., Nunez-Smith, M., Lee, H., & Comfort, M. (2014). Discrimination based on criminal record and healthcare utilization among men recently released from prison: a descriptive study. *Health & Justice*, 2, 6-6. doi: 10.1186/2194-7899-2-6
- Gaes, G. G., Bales, W. D., & Scaggs, S. J. (2016). The effect of imprisonment on recommitment: an analysis using exact, coarsened exact, and radius matching with the propensity score. *Journal of Experimental Criminology*, 12(1), 143-158. doi: 10.1007/s11292-015-9251-x
- Galli, S., Bretschneider, W., Elger, B. S., Handtke, V., & Shaw, D. (2016). Aging prisoners' views on healthcare services in Swiss prisons. *Journal of Applied Gerontology.*, 1-21. doi:10.1177/0733464816681150
- Galvin, R., Gilleit, Y., Wallace, E., Cousins, G., Bolmer, M., Rainer, T., ... & Fahey, T. (2017).

- Adverse outcomes in older adults attending emergency departments: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the Identification of Seniors At Risk (ISAR) screening tool. *Age and Ageing*, 46(2), 179-186. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afw233
- Gelsthorpe, L., Sharpe, G., & Roberts, J. (2007). Provision for Women Offenders in the Community. London, UK: Fawcett Society.
- Gilmour, H. (2011). Cognitive performance of Canadian seniors. *Health Reports*, 22(2), 1-6. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada, Catalogue no. 82-003-XPE.
- Gobeil, R. (2008). Staying Out: Women's Perceptions of Challenges and Protective Factors in Community Reintegration. Ottawa, ON: Correctional Service of Canada.
- Gobeil, R., Allenby, K. & Greiner, L. (2014). A brief profile of incarcerated older men offenders. *Research Snippet*. April 2014 Number RS-14-02. Ottawa, ON: Correctional Service of Canada.
- Government of Canada (2014). *Tri-Council Policy Statement: Ethical Conduct for Research Involving Humans*. Ottawa: ON: Secretariat on Responsible Conduct of Research, Catalogue No: RR4-2/2014E-PDF
- Gray, L. C., Peel, N. M., Costa, A. P., Burkett, E., Dey, A. B., Jonsson, P. V., ... & Wellens, N. I. (2013). Profiles of older patients in the emergency department: findings from the interRAI Multinational Emergency Department Study. *Annals of Emergency Medicine*, 62(5), 467-474.
- Handtke, V., Wangmo, T., Elger, B., & Bretschneider, W. (2017). New guidance for an old problem: Early release for seriously ill and elderly prisoners in Europe. *Prison Journal*, 97(2), 224-246. doi:10.1177/0032885517692805
- Higgins, D., & Severson, M. E. (2009). Community reentry and older adult offenders: Redefining social work roles. *Journal of Gerontological Social Work*, *52*(8), 784-802. doi:10.1080/01634370902888618
- Hirdes JP, Ljunggren G, Morris JN, et al. (2008). Reliability of the interRAI suite of assessment instruments: a 12-country study of an integrated health information system. *BMC Health Serv Res*, 8:277. doi:10.1186/1472-6963-8-277
- Hirdes, J., Sinha, S.K., Brown, G.P., Foster, N., Jantzi, M. & Garner, A. (2019). *Understanding the Ageing Population in Canada's Federal Correctional Facilities: Phase I Report*. Waterloo, ON: School of Public Health and Health Systems, University of Waterloo. Research sponsored and funded by Correctional Service of Canada.
- Hirdes, J., Sinha, S.K., Brown, G.P., Foster, N., Heurter, D., MacLeod, S., Garner, A. & Jantzi, M. *Use of the interRAI Emergency Department Contact Assessment Final Report*. Waterloo, ON: School of Public Health and Health Systems, University of Waterloo. Research

- sponsored and funded by Correctional Service of Canada.
- Hoge, S.K. (2007). Providing transition and outpatient services to the mentally ill released from correctional institutions. Pp. 461-477 in R. Greifinger (ed.), *Public Health Behind Bars: From Prisons to Communities*. New York City, NY: Springer
- Hoover, D. S., Pappadis, M. R., Housten, A. J., Krishnan, S., Weller, S. C., Giordano, S. H., ... & Volk, R. J. (2019). Preferences for communicating about breast cancer screening among racially/ethnically diverse older women. *Health Communication*, *34*(7), 702-706. doi: 10.1080/10410236.2018.1431026
- Hu, T., Dattani, N. D., Cox, K. A., Au, B., Xu, L., Melady, D., ... & Charles, J. (2017). Effect of comorbidities and medications on frequency of primary care visits among older patients. *Canadian Family Physician*, 63(1), 45-50.
- Hunter, D. J., & Howes, D. (2020). Defining Exploratory-Descriptive Qualitative (EDQ) research and considering its application to healthcare. *GSTF Journal of Nursing and Health Care* (JNHC), 4(1). doi: 10.5176/2345-7198\_4.1.202
- IBM Corporation. (2019). SPSS Statistics 26. Somers, NY: IBM Corporation Software Group.
- Iftene, A. (2016). Unlocking the doors to Canadian older inmate mental health data: Rates and potential legal responses. *International Journal of Law and Psychiatry*, 47, 36-44. doi:10.1016/j.ijlp.2016.02.032
- Iftene, A. (2017). The pains of incarceration: Aging, rights, and policy in federal penitentiaries. Canadian Journal of Criminology & Criminal Justice, 59(1), 63-93. doi:10.3138/cjccj.2016.E03
- Jones, P.E. (2007). Why there is no such thing as 'critical discourse analysis. *Language & Communication*, 27(4), 337-368. doi: 10.1016/j.langcom.2006.08.001
- Kelly, M. (2010). The role of theory in qualitative health research. *Family Practice*, 27(3), 285-290. doi: 10.1093/fampra/cmp077
- Kim, H., Sefcik, J. S., & Bradway, C. (2017). Characteristics of qualitative descriptive studies: A systematic review. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 40(1), 23-42. doi: 10.1002/nur.21768
- Kouyoumdjian, F. G., Andreev, E. M., Borschmann, R., Kinner, S. A., & McConnon, A. (2017). Do people who experience incarceration age more quickly? exploratory analyses using retrospective cohort data on mortality from Ontario, Canada. *PloS One*, 12(4), doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0175837
- Maruschak, L. M., Berzofsky, M., & Unangst, J. (2015). *Medical Problems of State and Federal Prisoners and Jail Inmates*, 2011-12. US Department of Justice, Office of Justice Programs, Bureau of Justice Statistics Washington, DC.

- Maschi, T., Morrisey, M. B., & Leigey, M. (2013a). The case for human agency, well-being, and community reintegration for people aging in prison: A statewide case analysis. *Journal of Correctional Health Care*, 19(3), 194-210. doi: 10.1177/1078345813486445
- Maschi, T., Viola, D., & Sun, F. (2013b). The high cost of the international aging prisoner crisis: Well-being as the common denominator for action. The Gerontologist, 53(4), 543-554. doi:10.1093/geront/gns125
- Maschi, T., Morgen, K., Westcott, K., Viola, D., & Koskinen, L. (2014). Aging, incarceration, and employment prospects: Recommendations for practice and policy reform. *Journal of Applied Rehabilitation Counseling*, 45(4), 44-55.
- Metzger, L., Ahalt, C., Kushel, M., Riker, A., & Williams, B. (2017). Mobilizing cross-sector community partnerships to address the needs of criminal justice-involved older adults: A framework for action. *International Journal of Prisoner Health*, *13*(3-4), 173-184. doi:10.1108/JJPH-05-2017-0024
- Morrow, K. M., Vargas, S., Rosen, R. K., Christensen, A. L., Salomon, L., Shulman, L., ... & Fava, J. L. (2007). The utility of non-proportional quota sampling for recruiting at-risk women for microbicide research. *AIDS and Behavior*, *11*(4), 586-595. doi: 10.1007/s10461-007-9213-z
- Mosier, K. E., Vasiliadis, H. M., Lepnurm, M., Puchala, C., Pekrul, C., & Tempier, R. (2010). Prevalence of mental disorders and service utilization in seniors: results from the Canadian community health survey cycle 1.2. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 25(10), 960-967. doi: 10.1002/gps.2434
- Nolan, A. M., & Stewart, L. A. (2017). Chronic Health Conditions Among Incoming Canadian Federally Sentenced Women. *Journal of Correctional Health Care*, 23(1), 93-103. doi: 10.1177/1078345816685707
- Nowotny, K. M., Cepeda, A., James-Hawkins, L., & Boardman, J. D. (2016). Growing old behind bars: Health profiles of the older male inmate population in the United States. *Journal of Aging and Health*, 28(6), 935-956. doi:10.1177/0898264315614007
- Olson, D. E., Stalans, L. J., & Escobar, G. (2016). Comparing male and female prison releasees across risk factors and postprison recidivism. *Women & Criminal Justice*, 26(2), 122-144. doi: 10.1080/08974454.2015.1083930
- Patenaude, A. L. (2004). No promises, but I'm willing to listen and tell what I hear: Conducting qualitative research among prison inmates and staff. *The Prison Journal*, 84(4), 69S-91S. doi: 10.1177/0032885504269898
- Porporino, F.L. (2014). Managing the elderly in corrections. Presentation to the 157th International Training Course of the United Nations Asia and Far East Institute for the

- Prevention of Crime and the Treatment of Offenders (UNAFEI). Retrieved om March 31, 2018 from http://www.unafei.or.jp/english/pdf/RS\_No94/No94\_VE\_Porporino2.pdf
- Pratt, D., Piper, M., Appleby, L., Webb, R. & Shaw, J. (2006). Suicide in recently released prisoners: a population-based cohort study. *Lancet*, 368, 119-123.
- Psick, Z., Ahalt, C., Brown, R. T., & Simon, J. (2017). Prison Boomers: Policy Implications of Aging Prison Populations. *International Journal of Prisoner Health*, 13(1), 57-63. doi: 10.1108/JJPH-09-2016-0053
- Public Safety Canada (2022). *Corrections and Conditional Release Statistical Overview 2020*. Ottawa, ON: Public Works and Government Services Canada, Cat. No.: PS1-3E-PDF.
- QSR International (2018). NVivio 12 Pro. QSR International Pty Limited. Doncaster, Victoria, Australia. <a href="https://www.qsrinternational.com/nvivo/nvivo-products/nvivo-12-pro">www.qsrinternational.com/nvivo/nvivo-products/nvivo-12-pro</a>
- Raina, P., Wolfson, C., Kirkland, S., Griffith, L. E., Balion, C., Cossette, B., ... & Liu-Ambrose, T. (2019). Cohort profile: The Canadian Longitudinal Study on Aging (CLSA). *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 48(6), 1752-1753j. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyz173
- Ramage-Morin, P.L. (2008). Chronic pain in Canadian seniors. *Health Reports*, 19(1), 37-52. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada, Catalogue no. 82-003-XPE.
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11(1), 25-41. doi: 10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rope, O., & Sheahan, F. (2018). Global prison trends 2018. London: Penal Reform International Retrieved from <a href="https://cdn.penalreform.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/PRI\_Global-Prison-Trends-2018\_EN\_WEB.pdf">https://cdn.penalreform.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/04/PRI\_Global-Prison-Trends-2018\_EN\_WEB.pdf</a>.
- Scaggs, S. J. (2017). The Aging Inmate Crisis: Institutional Adjustment and Post-Prison Outcome Differences between Older and Younger Prisoners (Doctoral dissertation, The Florida State University).
- Shantz, L. R., & Frigon, S. (2009). Aging, women and health: From the pains of imprisonment to the pains of reintegration. *International Journal of Prisoner Health*, 5(1), 3-15. doi:10.1080/17449200802692045
- Shapiro, C., & Schwartz, M. (2001). Coming home: Building on family connections. *Corrections Management Quarterly*, 5(3), 52-61.
- Sheikh, S. (2019). Risk factors associated with emergency department recidivism in the older adult. *Western Journal of Emergency Medicine*, 20(6), 931. doi: 10.5811/westjem.2019.7.43073

- Snyder, C., van Wormer, K., Chadha, J., & Jaggers, J. W. (2009). Older adult inmates: The challenge for social work. *Social Work*, 54(2), 117-124.
- Stanback, B. (2011). *Tarnished Golden Years: Older Offenders with Mental Health Problems and Late Life First Time Offenders*. (Doctoral dissertation, The University of South Florida).
- Statistics Canada (2016). *Seniors Income from 1976 to 2014: Four decades, Two Stories*. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada, Catalogue no. 11-630-X.
- Statistics Canada (2017a). *Working Seniors in Canada*. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada, Catalogue no. 96-200-X2016027.
- Statistics Canada (2017b). *Concurrent Mental and Substance Use Disorders in Canada*. Ottawa, ON: Statistics Canada, Catalogue no. 82-003-X.
- Statistics Canada (2019). *Education Highlight Tables*, 2016 Census. retrieved from: https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-pd/hlt-fst/edu-sco/Table.cfm?Lang=E&T=11&Geo=00&View=2&Age=2
- Statistics Canada (2020). *Healthy Aging Indicators*. Table 13-10-0466-01. Retrieved from: <a href="https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310046601">https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/t1/tbl1/en/tv.action?pid=1310046601</a>.
- Stewart, J. (2000, September). The reintegration effort for long-term infirm and elderly federal offenders (RELIEF) Program. *Forum on Corrections Research* (Vol. 12, No. 3, pp. 35-38). Ottawa, ON: Correctional Service of Canada.
- Stewart, L. A., Nolan, A., Sapers, J., Power, J., Panaro, L., & Smith, J. (2015). Chronic health conditions reported by male inmates newly admitted to Canadian federal penitentiaries. *CMAJ Open*, 3(1), E97-E102. doi:10.9778/cmajo.20140025
- Stuckey, H. L. (2013). Three types of interviews: Qualitative research methods in social health. *Journal of Social Health and Diabetes*, 1(02), 056-059. doi:
- Taylor, A., Broadbent, M., Wallis, M., & Marsden, E. (2019). The predictive validity of the interRAI ED screener for predicting re-presentation within 28 days for older adults at a regional hospital emergency department. Australasian Emergency Care, 22(3), 149-155. doi: 10.1016/j.auec.2019.04.005
- Thompson, J., Forrester, T., & Stewart, L. (2015). Factors related to community supervision outcomes: Revocations (*Research Report R-304*). Ottawa, ON: Correctional Service of Canada.
- UNODC (2009). *Handbook on Prisoners with Special Needs*. New York, NY: United Nations Office on Drugs and Crime.

- USDOJ (2016). *The Impact of an Aging Inmate Population on the Federal Bureau of Prisons*. Washington, DC: Office of the Inspector General: Evaluation and Inspections Division 15-05.
- van Mourik, Y., Rutten, F. H., Moons, K. G., Bertens, L. C., Hoes, A. W., & Reitsma, J. B. (2014). Prevalence and underlying causes of dyspnoea in older people: a systematic review. *Age and Ageing*, 43(3), 319-326. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afu001
- Vasileiou, K., Barnett, J., Thorpe, S., & Young, T. (2018). Characterising and justifying sample size sufficiency in interview-based studies: systematic analysis of qualitative health research over a 15-year period. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, 18(1), 148. doi: 10.1186/s12874-018-0594-7
- Visher, C. & Travis, J. (2003). Transitions from prison to community: understanding individual pathways. *Annual Review Sociology*, 29, 89-113. doi: 10.1146/annurev.soc.29.010202.095931
- Visher, C.A. & Mallik-Kane, K. (2007). Reentry experiences of men with health problems. Pp. 434-460 in R. Greifinger (ed.), *Public Health Behind Bars: From Prisons to Communities*. New York City, NY: Springer
- Walker, J., Illingworth, C., Canning, A., Garner, E., Woolley, J., Taylor, P., & Amos, T. (2014). Changes in mental state associated with prison environments: a systematic review. *Acta Psychiatrica Scandinavica*, 129(6), 427-436. doi: 10.1111/acps.12221
- Wellens NI, Deschodt M, Boonen S, et al. (2011). Validity of the interRAI Acute Care based on test content: a multi-center study. *Aging Clin Exp Res*, 23(5–6):476–86.
- Wellens NI, Van Lancker A, Flamaing J, et al. (2012). Interrater reliability of the interRAI Acute Care (interRAI AC). *Arch Gerontol Geriatr*;55(1):165–72. doi 10.1016/j.archger.2011.07.005
- Western, B., Braga, A. A., Davis, J., & Sirois, C. (2015). Stress and hardship after prison. *American Journal of Sociology*, 120(5), 1512-1547.
- Williams, B.A. & Abraldes, R. (2007). Growing older: Challenges of prison and reentry for the aging population. Pp. 56-72 in R. Greifinger (ed.), *Public Health Behind Bars: From Prisons to Communities*. New York City, NY: Springer.
- Williams, B. A., McGuire, J., Lindsay, R. G., Baillargeon, J., Cenzer, I. S., Lee, S. J., & Kushel, M. (2010). Coming home: Health status and homelessness risk of older pre-release prisoners. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 25(10), 1038-1044. doi:10.1007/s11606-010-1416-8

- Williams, B. A., Goodwin, J. S., Baillargeon, J., Ahalt, C., & Walter, L. C. (2012). Addressing the aging crisis in U.S. criminal justice health care. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 60(6), 1150-1156. doi:10.1111/j.1532-5415.2012.03962.x
- Williams, B.A., Ahalt, C. & Greifinger, R. (2014). The older prisoner and complex chronic medical care. Pp. 165-170 in Enggist, S., Møller, L., Galea, G., & Udesen, C. (eds). *Prisons and Health*. WHO Regional Office for Europe.
- Wodak, R. & Meyer, M. (2001). *Methods of Critical Discourse Analysis*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications.
- Wyse, J. (2018). Older men's social integration after prison. *International Journal of Offender Therapy and Comparative Criminology*, 1-21. doi: 10.1177/0306624X16683210
- Yorston, G. A., & Taylor, P. J. (2006). Commentary: Older offenders--no place to go? *The Journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law*, 34(3), 333-337.
- Zinger, I., & Landry, M. C. (2019). Aging and Dying in Prison: An Investigation into the Experiences of Older Individuals in Federal Custody. Ottawa, ON: Office of the Correctional Investigator Canada.
- Zlodre, J., & Fazel, S. (2012). All-cause and external mortality in released prisoners: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *American Journal of Public Health*, 102(12), e67-75. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2012.300764

# Older Individuals on Conditional Release in the Community

**Interview Protocol** 

**Correctional Service of Canada** 

&

Institute for Applied Social Research (IASR)
Nipissing University
100 College Drive, Box 5002
North Bay, Ontario
P1B 8L7

<u>Tel</u>: 705-474-3450 ext. 4454 <u>Email</u>: gregb@nipissingu.ca

## **Older Individuals on Conditional Release – Interview Protocol**

Current date:	Interview Location:	
Interview Number:	Interviewer:	
<b>Background Questions</b>		
My name is and I am a resear	rcher from We are doing research to	
find out what kinds of services older individu	uals, those aged 50 years or more, on conditional	
release in the community make use of and an	y needs for services they may have. You have been	
identified as an individual 50 years of age or	older who is on conditional release in the	
community who may be willing to speak with	h us.	
Your answers to the interview questions will	be combined with the information collected by the	
interRAI ED-CA health care screening assess	sment you completed. In addition, providing us with	
your FPS number will allow us to collect son	ne background information from the CSC OMS	
database (e.g., demographic and offence info	rmation). When we do the research and write the	
research report none of the documents will ha	ave your name on it and only grouped information	
will be presented. No one will be identified.		
***Depending on whether the participant ha	s consented to participate prior to interviewers'	
visit, you may or may not want to reiterate th	e following information:	
As mentioned in the consent form, your information	rmation will remain confidential except under the	
following circumstances: If you disclose info	ormation about plans to harm yourself or others,	
information concerning any unknown emotion	onal, physical or sexual abuse of children, or	
information about any other criminal activities	es not already known to authorities, the researcher is	
required to report this information to the appr	ropriate authorities.	
Do you have any questions or any concerns?		
All completed research published by the Corr	rectional Service of Canada is available on the web -	

http://www.csc-scc.gc.ca/research/index-eng.shtml. This project is not likely to be completed for

at least a year.

# **Eligibility Questions**

Q1.	What is your current age?		
Q2.	How old were you when you were most recently incarcerated?		
	Between $50 - 64$ years of age 1		
	65 years of age or older	2	
	All other ages	3	
	Refused to say	88	
	Missing	99	
Q3.	How many years were you in prison		
	(a) on your most recent or only in	carceration,	
	and/or		
	(b) in total for all of the times you	have been incarcerated?	
Q4.	At what age were you most recently released from prison into the community?		
Q5.	How long have you currently been on rele	ease in the community?	
Q6.	How would you answer this question?  I have grown older in custody as a result of a lengthy sentence imposed when I was younger	1	
	I have had multiple admissions and have served much of my adult life in custody	2	
	I was incarcerated for the first time in my 50's or 60's	3	
	Refused to say	88	
	Missing	99	

### **Demographic Background Questions**

Q7. What is your gender orientation? Male Female 2 Transgender 3 Other 4 Refused to say 88 99 Missing Q8. How do you identify your ethnocultural background? Caucasian 1 2 Black 3 First Nation 4 Inuit 5 Metis Mixed race 6 Other 7 Refused to say 88 99 Missing Q9. What language do you usually communicate in? **English** French 2 Other 3 Refused to say 88 Missing What is the highest level of schooling you completed? Q12.

Less than high school

Completed university

Completed high school

Some college/CGEP/university

Completed college/CGEP/Trades

Missing 99

1

2

3

4 5

6

88

# **Open-Ended Questions**

<u>Probe</u>	<u>if necessary</u> . Try to encourage as much detail without asking any leading questions.
Q13.	There are lots of views on what is an 'older' offender in terms of age. What do you consider to be an "older" person in CSC? (do you feel old yourself? Do you think it is about 'age' or about how you 'feel' in terms of being 'older'?)
Q14.	On a scale from 1-10 where 10 is the BEST possible, how would you rate your experience of living in the community?
Q15.	Does your age factor into your experience of living in the community? If so, how?
_	

Q16.	In your view, is there anything that could be improved – anything that could be done to make your life as an older person in the community better?		
Q17.	As you get older, what, if anything worries you about getting older while living in the community? (what do you worry about the most? Do you worry about getting oldergetting sickgetting dementia, dying without supports around you, etc?).		

## **Semi-Structured Questions**

OK, thanks for that – it's helpful to have you talk about you're your experience in the community in your own words. Now I am going to ask you some more detailed questions. These questions are about how the kind of preparation and planning you did to get ready for your release, and your experiences since you have been living on release in the community.

Part A – Health and Wellness			
Q18.		-10 where 10 is Excellent and 1 is Poor, how would you rate your at health or dietary needs, if any, do you have?	
Q19.	Do you have any physical health conditions that represent a limitation on your activities? For example, conditions that limit your physical mobility, your physical endurance, your ability to concentrate, etc.  No   \[ \sum_{\text{od}} \]		
	Yes □	<u>If yes</u> , what kinds of limitations on your activity do you have? Are	
		these limitations related to a specific health condition? If so what kind of health condition is it?	
		If yes, what kinds of treatments are you getting for this condition?	
		Are you able to get the treatment you need? If not, why not?	

Q20.	Do you have any special dietary needs? No $\Box$		
	Yes □	If yes, what are your special dietary needs?	
Q21.	Do you take any m	nedications?	
	No □ Yes □	<i>If yes</i> , is your medication paid for you by a private or government plan? Do you have a pharmacy you go to regularly to fill your prescriptions? Are there any issues with getting the medications you need?	
Q22.	If you don't mind mo	e asking, how many prescription medications are you currently using?	
Q23.	Do you have a fam	nily doctor?	
	Yes □ No □	<u>If no</u> , what do you do/who do you see when you have a physical health problem?	

Q24.	Do you have a dentist?		
	Yes □ No □	<i>If no</i> , what do you do/who do you see when you have a dental problem?	
Q25.	Do you see other r types of practition	medical practitioners for your physical health problems? If so, what ers do you see?	
Q26.	Do you have any ongoing problems in accessing and receiving the kind of medical or dental care you need?		
Q27.	Do you have a mental health professional you see?		
	Yes □ No □	<u>If no</u> , what do you do/who do you see when you need to see a mental health professional?	

Q28.	Do you have an addiction treatment professional you see?		
	Yes □ No □	<i>If no</i> , what do you do/who do you see when you need to see an addiction treatment professional?	
Q29.	Do you have any ongoing problems in accessing and receiving the kind of mental health or addiction treatment service you require?		
Q30.	On a scale of 1-10 with 10 being the BEST possible, how well do you think your health needs are being met? Why did you give that number? What changes could help meet you health needs better? Do you use any mobility aids (walker, wheelchair, cane, etc.)?		

Q31. Compared to the medical, dental, mental health or addiction treatment service received when you were incarcerated, how do the treatment services you are the community compare?		n you were incarcerated, how do the treatment services you are receiving in
<u>Part</u>	B – Family,	Friends and Social Relationships
A. Fa	amily Support	
Q32.	•	ntly receive any support from family members (e.g., parents, siblings, your rextended family)?
	Yes □	If yes, what kind of help do they provide? Does being older make a
		difference in how family members relate to and support you?
B. In	timate Relatio	onships
Q33.		ently, or at some point during your release, been involved in an intimate e.g., boyfriend, girlfriend, partner, spouse)?
	Yes	☐ <u>If yes</u> , how has the relationship affected your time on on release in the community?

<b>C.</b> C	hildren/Parer	nting							
Q34.	Do you have any children?								
	No □ skip to Q 24								
	Yes	Q35.	When/how often do you have contact with your children?						
		Q36.	Do any of your children currently live with you?						
		<b>Q</b> 30.							
		Q37.	How would you describe your relationship with your children?						
D. Fı	riends and As	sociates							
Q38.	Do you socia	alize witl	h friends often?						
	Yes □ No □	<u>If no</u> ,	why not?						
Q39.	How has hav	ving frier	nds/not having friends affected your release in the community?						

#### Part C – Housing and Community

Q40.	Do you think your criminal record is a limit on your ability to function well in the community?						
	No 🗆						
	Yes $\square$	If yes, in what ways does it limit your ability to function in the					
		community?					
		community?					
Q41.	Do you think No □	your older age is a limit on your ability to function well in the community?					
	Yes $\square$	If yes, in what ways does it limit your ability to function in the					
		community?					
A. <u>A</u>	ccommodation	<u>.</u>					
Q42.	Where do you	ulive (e.g. a private house apartment rooming house seniors					
Q <del>4</del> 2.	Where do you live (e.g. a private house, apartment, rooming house, seniors						
	accommodations)?						
Q43.	With whom d	lo you live?					
Q44.	Would you sa	y that where you are living now is a safe and stable living arrangement?					
	Yes □						
	No □	<i>If no</i> , how is it unsafe or unstable for you?					
		· •					

Q45.	How do you think the type of place you live in has affected your release?					
Q.46	_	•	ee a time when you will be living in a supported living living situation, long-term care, etc.)?			
	Yes □ No □	Yes				
—— В. Еі	mployment a	and Income				
Q47.	On your release, did you find a job in the community?					
	No □ Yes □	If yes, what type of jo	ob was it?			
Q48.	Part Full Une Cas Seas Self Una Reti Oth Ref		tatus?  1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 88 9			

C. Fi	nances						
Q49.	Do you have any other sources of income other than from a job?						
	No $\square$ Yes $\square$ <i>If yes</i> , are you receiving a pension (e.g. CPP. OAS, private employer pension plan).						
Q.50	Less than	n \$30,000 per year per year or more	nt annual income to be?  1 2 88 99				
Q51.	-	-	ble to pay your bills? Do you think that being an older meet financially? Why/why not?				
-							

<b>D.</b> C	ommunity Resources						
Q52.	Do you have reliable transportation access (e.g., bus, car)? No $\ \square$ Yes $\ \square$						
Q53.	How do you think having <u>OR</u> not having access to transportation has affected your release?						
Q54.	Do you have access to technology (e.g., phone, internet, television)? No $\ \square$ Yes $\ \square$						
Q55.	How do you think having <u>OR</u> not having access to technology has affected your release?						
	ommunity Programs						
C. C	ommunity 1 rograms						
Q56.	Following release, have you been enrolled in and/or completed any CSC programs (e.g.,community maintenance programs or any other programs administered by Corrections Canada or a person or persons employed/contracted by the Correctional Service of Canada)  No						
	Yes $\Box$ If yes, how do you think participation in these program affected your release in the community?						

Q57.	Following release, have you been enrolled in any non-CSC programs? No $\Box$						
	Yes □	If yes, how do you think participation in these programs affected your					
		release?					
D. Co	ommunity S	Supervision					
Q58.	Do you continue to see a parole officer on a regular basis?						
	No 🗆	If no, why not?					
	Yes 🗆	<u>If yes</u> , is your parole officer helpful in addressing your needs in the community?					
Q59.	Is your par	role officer sensitive to any limitations you may have based on your age?					
	No 🗆						
	Yes $\square$	If yes, how has your parole officer supported you in addressing these					
		limitations?					

#### E. Leisure activities

Q60.	What do you do in your free time? How do you think that these activities contribute to your success in the community?					
Q61.	Are you ab	le to access the leisure activities you would like to be part of?				
	Yes □					
	No 🗆	<u>If no</u> , why do you think you are unable to access the leisure activities you would like to be a part of? Do you think that being an older person limits your access to leisure/recreational activities in the community?				

#### Part D - Avoidance of Substance Misuse

	Note: Reminder concerning the limitations of confidentiality					
Q62.	Have you had any issues with substance misuse?					
	No $\square$ Yes $\square$ <i>If yes</i> , is this still an issue for you? How has substance misuse affected your release?					
<u>Part</u>	E – Personal/Emotional					
	Note: Reminder concerning the limitations of confidentiality					
A. Sa	afety/Security					
Q63.	Do you feel safe living in the community? Have you been a victim of bullying by someone, or a victim of abuse (physical, emotional, financial, sexual)? No $\Box$ Yes $\Box$ (please explain)					

B. Se	elf-Concept
Q.64	How would you describe yourself to someone else?
Q65.	In a crisis, do you have someone you can reach out to for help? If yes, who? If no, why not?
Q66.	Do you think you spend too much time on your own? Is loneliness a problem for you?
	No □ Yes □
Q67.	Are you hopeful for the future? Where do you see yourself in five years?

### Part F - Connection to Culture/Spirituality

Q68.	Would you consider yourself connected to your culture?						
	No □ Yes □						
Q69.	Do you consider yourself a religious or spiritual person?						
	No □ Yes □	If yes, what religion or spirituality do you identify with?					
Q70.	How often do	you attend/participate in cultural and/or religious or spiritual activities?					
Q71.	( <u>If you are an</u>	<u>Indigenous person</u> ), do you use any cultural resources in the community					
	(e.g., Aborigin	nal community liaison, Elder, Friendship Centre, etc.)?					
	No $\square$						
	Yes □	<u>If yes</u> , which ones do you use?					

Q72.	How do you think this connection or lack of connection to your culture and/or religion or spirituality has affected your ability to remain in the community?
	Additional Information
Q73.	We are interested in knowing about any other information you think might help us understand whether being an older individual (50 years of age or older) on conditional release makes it easier or more difficult to be successful in the community. Are there any other comments that you would like to share with us?
	OK – that's all the questions we have for you today.
in	hank-you so much for taking the time to do this interview with us. The formation you have given us will be used by the Correctional Service of ada to plan ways to improve the process of release into the community, so that everyone will have a good chance at being successful.
	Again, thank-you!

Appendix B: InterRAI	Assessment	Results, 1	by (	Gender and	l by	Indigenous	Ancestry

Table B1 *IinterRAI ED-CA assessment results by gender*  $(N = 64)^a$ 

interRAI Assessment		ale	Female		
	%	(n)	%	(n)	
Section A - Identification Information					
Age group					
50 – 54	21.1	(12)	42.9	(3)	
55 - 59	22.8	(13)	42.9	(3)	
		, ,		(-)	
60 - 64	15.8	(9)	-	-	
65 - 69	22.8	(13)	14.3	(1)	
70 - 74	10.5	(6)	_	-	
75 - 79	5.5	(3)	_	_	
80 and older	1.8	(1)	_	_	
Lives alone	1.0	(-)			
No	68.4	(39)	71.4	(5)	
Yes	31.6	(18)	28.6	(2)	
Section B - Intake and Initial History	31.0	(10)	20.0	(2)	
•					
Family/friends overwhelmed No	94.7	(54)	85.7	(6)	
Yes	5.3	(34)	14.3		
Support person for discharge	3.3	(3)	14.3	(1)	
No	10.5	(6)	14.3	(1)	
Yes	61.4	(35)	71.4	(5)	
Lives in institutional setting	28.1	(16)	14.3	(3) $(1)$	
Receiving community health/social services last 90		(10)	14.3	(1)	
No	52.6	(30)	85.7	(6)	
Yes	19.3	(11)			
	28.1	` ′	14.2	- (1)	
Lives in institutional setting	20.1	(16)	14.3	(1)	
Acute hospital overnight stay last 90 days No	93.0	(52)	100	(7)	
Yes	93.0 7.0	(53)	100	(7)	
	7.0	(4)	-	-	
Emergency department visit last 90 days	92.5	(47)	100	(7)	
No Voc	82.5	(47)	100	(7)	
Yes	17.5	(10)	-	-	
Physician visits previous 90 days	20.1	(1.0)	20.5	/ <b>3</b> `	
None	28.1	(16)	28.6	(2)	
1-2	43.9	(25)	28.6	(2)	
3-5	14.0)	(8)	14.3	(1)	
6 or more	14.0	(8)	28.6	(2)	
Time since last hospital visit previous 90 days	02.0	(52)	100.0		
No hospitalization	93.0	(53)	100.0	(7)	
31-90	5.3	(3)	-	-	
15–30	-	-	-	-	
8-14	- 1 0	- (1)	-	-	
In last 7 days	1.8	(1)	-	-	
Transferred from other hospital	-	-	-		

Table B1 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results by gender  $(N = 64)^a$ 

interRAI Assessment	Male		Female		
	%	(n)	%	(n)	
Section C – Clinical Evaluation					
Cognitive skills daily decision-making					
Independent	100.0	(57)	100.0	(7)	
Modified/any impairment	-	-	-	-	
Ability to understand others	_	_	_	_	
Understands	94.7	(54)	100.0	(7)	
Usually	5.3	(3)	-	-	
Often	-	-	_	_	
Sometimes	_	_	_	_	
Rarely/never	_	_	_	_	
Acute change in mental status from usual					
functioning					
No	91.2	(52)	85.7	(6)	
Yes	8.8	(5)	14.3	(1)	
Inappropriate or abusive behaviour last 3 days	0.0		1 1.5	(*)	
No	100.0	(57)	100.0	(7)	
Yes	-	-	-	-	
Presence of hallucinations last 24 hours					
Not present	100.0	(57)	100.0	(7)	
Present but not exhibited	-	-	-	-	
Present and exhibited	_	_	_	_	
Presence of delusions last 24 hours	_	_	_	_	
Not present	100.0	(57)	100.0	(7)	
Present but not exhibited	-	-	-	-	
Present and exhibited	_	_	_	_	
Consumed alcohol to point of intoxication last 7					
days					
No	96.5	(55)	100.0	(7)	
Yes	3.5	(2)	_	-	
Self-reported mood - little interest or pleasure in		( )			
things you normally enjoy?					
Not in last 3 days	86.0	(49)	100.0)	(7	
Not in last 3 days, but often feels that way	3.5	(2)	-	-	
1-2 of last 3 days	5.3	(3)	-	_	
Daily in last 3 days	5.3	(3)	-	-	
No response	-	-	-	_	
Self-reported mood - anxious, restless or uneasy?					
Not in last 3 days	84.2	(48)	100.0	(7)	
Not in last 3 days, but often feels	1.8	(1)	_	-	
1-2 of last 3 days	5.3	(3)	-	_	
Daily in last 3 days	8.8	(5)	-	-	
No response	-	-	_	_	
TAO TESPONSE	-				

Table B1 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results by gender  $(N = 64)^a$ 

interRAI Assessment	Male		Fem	ıale	
	%	(n)	%	(n)	
Self-reported mood - sad, depressed, or hopeless?					
Not in last 3 days	80.7	(46)	100.0	(7)	
Not in last 3 days, but often feels	5.3	(3)	-	-	
1-2 of last 3 days	7.0	(4)	-	-	
Daily in last 3 days	7.0	(4)	-	-	
No response	-	-	-	-	
Self-reported health – in general, rate your own					
health					
Excellent	14.0	(8)	-	_	
Good	47.4	(27)	57.1	(4)	
Fair	22.8	(13)	14.3	(1)	
Poor	15.8	(9)	28.6	(2)	
No response	-	-	-	-	
ADL Self-performance and capacity - bathing					
Independent or set-up help only	100.0	(57)	71.4	(5)	
Supervision or physical assistance	-	-	28.6	(2)	
ADL Self-performance and capacity – personal				. ,	
hygiene					
Independent or set-up help only	100.0	(57)	100.0	(7)	
Supervision or physical assistance	-	-	-	-	
ADL Self-performance and capacity – dress lower					
body					
Independent or set-up help only	100.0	(57)	85.7	(6)	
Supervision or physical assistance	-	-	14.3	(1)	
ADL Self-performance and capacity - locomotion					
Independent or set-up help only	96.5	(55)	100.0	(7)	
Supervision or physical assistance	3.5	(2)	-	-	
IADL Self-performance and capacity – managing					
medications					
Independent or set-up help only	96.5	(55)	85.7	(6)	
Supervision or any assistance	3.5	(2)	14.3	(2)	
IADL Self-performance and capacity – stairs		. /		. /	
Independent or set-up help only	98.2	(56)	71.4	(5)	
Supervision or any assistance	1.8	(1)	28.6	(2)	

Table B1 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results by gender  $(N = 64)^a$ 

interRAI Assessment	Male		Female		
	%	(n)	%	(n	
Falls					
None last 90 days	89.5	(51)	71.4	(5	
None last 30 days, but fell last 31-90	1.8	(1)	-	-	
One fall in last 30 days	3.5	(2)	-	_	
Two or more falls in last 30 days	5.3	(2)	28.6	(2	
Dyspnea (shortness of breath)		. ,		`	
Absence of symptoms	59.6	(34)	42.9 (3)		
Absent at rest, present with moderate activity	21.1	(12)	28.6	(2	
Absent at rest, present with normal activity	12.3	(7)	28.6	(2	
Present at rest	7.0	(4)	-	_	
Pain symptoms					
No pain	35.1	(20)	-	_	
Present but not exhibited last 3 days	8.8	(5)	_	_	
Exhibited on 1-2 of last 3 days	15.8	(9)	14.3	(1	
Exhibited daily in last 3 days	40.4	(23)	85.7	(6	
Intensity of highest pain level present					
No pain	33.3	(19)	_	_	
Mild	7.0	(4)	_	_	
Moderate	24.6	(14)	_	_	
Severe	22.8	(13)	42.9	(3	
Horrible or excruciating	12.3	(7)	57.1	(4	
Nutritional issues – noticeable decrease food or	12.3	(1)	37.1	( '	
fluids consumed last 3 days					
No	94.7	(54)	100.0	(7	
Yes	5.3	(3)	-	_	
Nutritional issues – noticeable weight loss last 30 –		` /			
180 days					
No	86.0	(49)	85.7	(6	
Yes	14.0	(8)	14.3	(1	
Conditions/diseases make cognitive, ADL, mood,		` '		`	
behaviour unstable					
No	98.2	(56)	100.0	(7	
Yes	1.8	(1)	-	-	
Traumatic injury					
No	59.6	(34)	57.1	(4	
Yes	40.4	(23)	42.9	(3	

Table B1 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results by gender  $(N = 64)^a$ 

interRAI Assessment	Male		Female		
	%	(n)	%	(n)	
Section D – Discharge module					
Algorithm scores					
Self-reliance					
0 (is self- reliant)	96.5	(55)	71.4	(5)	
1 (not self-reliant)	3.5	(2)	28.6	(2)	
Assessment urgency (1-6)					
1 (low)	61.4	(35)	57.1	(4)	
2	8.8	(5)	-		
3	26.3	(15)	14.3	(1)	
4	3.5	(2)	14.3	(1)	
5	-	-	-		
6 (high)	-	-	14.3	(1)	
Mood Scale					
0	75.4	(43)	100.0	(7)	
1	5.3	(3)	-	-	
2	3.5	(2)	-	-	
3	1.8	(1)	-	-	
4	3.5	(2)	_	-	
5	-		_	_	
6	3.5	(2)	_	-	
7	3.5	(2)	_	_	
8	_	-	_	_	
9	3.5	(2)	_	_	
Pain (0-4)		· /			
0 (none)	35.1	(20)	_	_	
1	8.8	(5)	_	_	
2	22.8	(13)	_	_	
3	22.8	(13)	42.9	(3)	
4 (daily, excruciating)	10.5	(6)	57.1	(4)	
Emergency department revisit risk (1-5)	10.0	(0)	0,11	(.)	
1 (low)	75.4	(43)	71.4	(5)	
2	19.3	(11)	14.3	(1)	
3	-	-	14.3	(1)	
4	1.8	(1)	_	_	
5 (high)	3.5	(2)	_	_	
Institutional risk (1-5)		` /			
1	86.0	(49)	57.1	(4)	
2	1.8	(1)	14.3	(1)	
3	-	(1)	14.3	(1)	
4	7.0	- (A)			
5	3.5	(4) (2)	14.3	(1)	
J	3.3	(2)	14.3	(1)	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> One participant did not complete the interRAI ED-CA assessment during the interview, data recorded as missing

Table B2 interRAI ED-CA assessment results by Indigenous Ancestry  $(N=64)^a$ 

interRAI Assessment	Indigenous		Non-Indigenous	
	%	(n)	%	(n)
Section A - Identification Information				
Age group				
50 - 54	21.1	(4)	24.4	(11)
55 - 59	26.3	(5)	24.4	(11)
60 - 64	21.1	(4)	11.1	(5)
65 - 69	10.5	(2)	26.7	(12)
70 - 74	15.8	(3)	6.7	(3)
75 - 79	-	-	6.7	(3)
80 and older	5.3	(1)	-	-
Lives alone				
No	73.7	(14)	66.7	(30)
Yes	26.3	(5)	33.3	(15)
Section B - Intake and Initial History				
Family/friends overwhelmed				
No	100.0	(19)	91.1	(41)
Yes	_	_	8.9	(4)
Support person for discharge				. ,
No	10.5	(2)	11.1	(5)
Yes	57.9	(11)	64.4	(29)
Lives in institutional setting	31.6	(6)	24.4	(11)
Receiving community health/social services last		. ,		` /
90 days				
No	52.6	(10)	57.8	(26)
Yes	15.8	(3)	17.8	(8)
Lives in institutional setting	31.6	(6)	24.4	(11)
Acute hospital overnight stay last 90 days				
No	89.5	(17)	95.6	(43)
Yes	10.5	(2)	4.4	(2)
Emergency department visit last 90 days				
No	73.7	(14)	88.9	(40)
Yes	26.3	(5)	11.1	(5)
Physician visits previous 90 days				
None	26.3	(5)	28.9	(13)
1-2	42.1	(8)	42.2	(19)
3-5	5.3	(1)	17.8	(8)
6 or more	26.3	(5)	11.1	(5)

Table B2 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results by Indigenous ancestry  $(N = 64)^a$ 

interRAI Assessment	Indigenous		Non-Indigen	
	%	(n)	%	(n)
Time since last hospital visit previous 90 days				
No hospitalization	89.5	(17)	95.6	(43)
31-90	10.5	(2)	2.2	(1)
15–30	-	-	-	-
8-14	-	-	-	_
In last 7 days	_	-	2.2	(1)
Transferred from other hospital	-	-	-	-
Section C – Clinical Evaluation				
Cognitive skills daily decision-making				
Independent	100.0	(19)	100.0	(45)
Modified/any impairment	-	-	-	-
Ability to understand others				
Understands	84.2	(16)	100.0	(45)
Usually	15.8	(3)	-	_
Often	_	-	_	-
Sometimes	-	-	_	-
Rarely/never	_	-	_	-
Acute change in mental status from usual				
functioning				
No	94.7	(18)	88.9	(40)
Yes	5.3	(1)	11.1	(5)
Inappropriate or abusive behaviour last 3 days				
No	100.0	(19)	100.0	(45)
Yes	_	-	_	`-
Presence of hallucinations last 24 hours				
Not present	100.0	(19)	100.0	(45)
Present but not exhibited	_	-	_	-
Present and exhibited	-	-	-	_
Presence of delusions last 24 hours				
Not present	100.0	(19)	100.0	(45)
Present but not exhibited	-	-	_	-
Present and exhibited	-	-	_	-
Consumed alcohol to point of intoxication last 7				
days				
No	100.0	(19)	95.6	(43)
Yes	_	-	4.4	(2)

Table B2 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results by Indigenous ancestry  $(N = 64)^a$ 

interRAI Assessment	Indig	enous	Non-Ind	-Indigenous	
	%	(n)	%	(n)	
Self-reported mood - little interest or pleasure in					
things you normally enjoy?					
Not in last 3 days	84.2	(16)	88.9	(40)	
Not in last 3 days, but often feels that way	10.5	(2)	-	-	
1-2 of last 3 days	-	-	6.7	(3)	
Daily in last 3 days	5.3	(1)	4.4	(2)	
No response		. ,		. ,	
Self-reported mood - anxious, restless or					
uneasy?					
Not in last 3 days	89.5	(17)	84.4	(38)	
Not in last 3 days, but often feels	-	-	2.2	(1)	
1-2 of last 3 days	5.3	(1)	4.4	(2)	
Daily in last 3 days	5.3	(1)	8.9	(4)	
No response	_	-	-	-	
Self-reported mood - sad, depressed, or					
hopeless?					
Not in last 3 days	78.9	(15)	84.4	(38)	
Not in last 3 days, but often feels	5.3	(1)	4.4	(2)	
1-2 of last 3 days	10.5	(2)	4.4	(2)	
Daily in last 3 days	5.3	(1)	6.7	(3)	
No response	-	-	_	-	
Self-reported health – in general, rate your own					
health					
Excellent	10.5	(2)	13.3	(6)	
Good	47.4	(9)	48.9	(22)	
Fair	21.1	(4)	22.2	(10)	
Poor	21.1	(4)	15.6	(7)	
No response	_	-	_	_	
ADL Self-performance and capacity - bathing					
Independent or set-up help only	100.0	(19)	95.6	(43)	
Supervision or physical assistance	_	-	4.4	(2)	
ADL Self-performance and capacity – personal				( )	
hygiene					
Independent or set-up help only	100.0	(19)	100.0	(45)	
Supervision or physical assistance	-	-	_	-	
ADL Self-performance and capacity – dress					
lower body					
Independent or set-up help only	100.0	(19)	97.8	(44)	
Supervision or physical assistance	100.0	(1))	2.2	(1)	

Table B2 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results by Indigenous ancestry  $(N = 64)^a$ 

interRAI Assessment	Indigenous		Indigenous Non-Indigenous		igenous
	%	(n)	%	(n)	
ADL Self-performance and capacity -					
locomotion					
Independent or set-up help only	89.5	(17)	100.0	(45)	
Supervision or physical assistance	10.5	(2)	-	-	
IADL Self-performance and capacity –					
managing medications					
Independent or set-up help only	94.7	(18)	95.6	(43)	
Supervision or any assistance	5.3	(1)	4.4	(2)	
IADL Self-performance and capacity – stairs					
Independent or set-up help only	89.5	(17)	97.8	(44)	
Supervision or any assistance	10.5	(2)	2.2	(1)	
Falls					
None last 90 days	89.5	(17)	86.7	(39)	
None last 30 days, but fell last 31-90	-	-	2.2	(1)	
One fall in last 30 days	-	-	4.4	(2)	
Two or more falls in last 30 days	10.5	(2)	6.7	(3)	
Dyspnea (shortness of breath)					
Absence of symptoms	57.9	(11)	57.8	(26)	
Absent at rest, present with moderate	31.6	(6)	17.8	(8)	
activity					
Absent at rest, present with normal activity	10.5	(2)	15.6	(7)	
Present at rest	-	-	8.9	(4)	
Pain symptoms					
No pain	26.3	(5)	33.3	(15)	
Present but not exhibited last 3 days	5.3	(1)	8.9	(4)	
Exhibited on 1-2 of last 3 days	26.3	(5)	11.1	(5)	
Exhibited daily in last 3 days	42.1	(8)	46.7	(21)	
Intensity of highest pain level present					
No pain	21.1	(4)	33.3	(15)	
Mild	-	-	8.9	(4)	
Moderate	26.3	(5)	20.0	(9)	
Severe	31.6	(6)	22.2	(10)	
Horrible or excruciating	21.1	(4)	15.6	(7)	
Nutritional issues – noticeable decrease food or					
fluids consumed last 3 days					
No	100.0	(19)	93.3	(42)	
Yes	_	_	6.7	(3)	

Table B2 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results by Indigenous ancestry  $(N = 64)^a$ 

interRAI Assessment	Indige	enous	Non-Inc	ligenous
	%	(n)	%	(n)
Nutritional issues – noticeable weight loss last				
30 - 180  days				
No	73.7	(14)	91.1	(41)
Yes	26.3	(5)	8.9	(4)
Conditions/diseases make cognitive, ADL,				
mood, behaviour unstable				
No	100.0	(19)	97.8	(44)
Yes	-	-	2.2	(1)
Traumatic injury				
No	42.1	(8)	66.7	(30)
Yes	57.9	(11)	33.3	(15)
Section D – Discharge module				
Algorithm scores				
Self-reliance				
0 (is self- reliant)	89.5	(17)	95.6	(43)
1 (not self-reliant)	10.5	(2)	4.4	(2)
Assessment urgency (1-6)		\		( )
1 (low)	57.9	(11)	62.2	(28)
2 ` ′	10.5	(2)	6.7	(3)
3	21.1	(4)	26.7	(12)
4	10.5	(2)	2.2	(1)
5	-	-	_	-
6 (high)	-	-	2.2	(1)
Mood Scale				. ,
0	68.4	(13)	82.2	(37)
1	15.8	(3)	-	`-
2	5.3	(1)	2.2	(1)
3	-	-	2.2	(1)
4	-	-	4.4	(2)
5	-	-	-	_
6	5.3	(1)	2.2	(1)
7	5.3	(1)	2.2	(1)
8	-	-	-	-
9	-	-	4.4	(2)
Pain (0-4)				. ,
0 (none)	26.3	(5)	33.3	(15)
1	5.3	(1)	8.9	(4)
2	21.1	(4)	20.0	(9)
3	31.6	(6)	22.2	(10)
4 (daily, excruciating)	15.8	(3)	15.6	(7)

Table B2 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results by Indigenous ancestry  $(N = 64)^a$ 

interRAI Assessment	Indig	Indigenous		ligenous
	%	(n)	%	(n)
Emergency department revisit risk (1-5)				
1 (low)	63.2	(12)	80.0	(36)
2	31.6	(6)	13.3	(6)
3	-	-	2.2	(1)
4	-	-	2.2	(1)
5 (high)	5.3	(1)	2.2	(1)
Institutional risk (1-5)				
1	84.2	(16)	82.2	(37)
2	_	-	4.4	(2)
3	-	-	2.2	(1)
4	5.3	(1)	6.7	(3)
5	10.5	(2)	2.2	(1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> One participant did not complete the interRAI ED-CA assessment during the interview, data recorded as missing

## Appendix C: Assessment Results, Community Sample Participants, and Comparison with Older Offender Institutional Population

The interRAI ED-CA was selected for use in the CSC Health Services study of older offenders in correctional facilities that began in April 2018 and concluded with a final report in November 2020 (Hirdes et al., 2020)

In Phase I, all men 65 years of age and older, and all women aged 50 years and older held in custody in federal correctional facilities were eligible to participate. Older persons in custody in each facility were approached by a member of the core correctional facility care team and asked if they would like to meet with the CSC research team nurse to learn more about the assessment process. Those who agreed met with a study team assessor (a CSC nurse) to complete the study's informed consent procedure and the interRAI ED-CA assessment itself.

In Phase II of the correctional facilities study, all men aged 50 years and older, including men in Community Correctional Centres, were eligible to participate in the study.

In total, N = 1,422 older offenders participated in the CSC Health Services facilities study, with representation from each of the CSC regions.

The interRAI ED-CA results from older offenders on conditional release in the community (N = 65) are compared with results from the larger correctional facilities sample (N = 1,422) in Table C1, including chi-square tests of differences in the distribution of health care needs between the two samples.

Table C1 interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants  $(N = 64)^a$  and older offender institutional population (N = 1,422)

interRAI Assessment		nunity nple		utional ılation	$\chi^2$	df
interkai Assessment	%	(n)	. горі %	(n)		
Section A - Identification Information		(**)		()		
Gender						
Women	10.9	(7)	4.2	(69)	5.193	2
Men	89.1	(57)	94.2	(1340)		
Other	-	-	0.9	(13)		
Age group						
50 - 54	23.4	(15)	26.2	(373)	1.832	6
55 – 59	25.0	(16)	22.9	(326)		
60 - 64	14.1	(9)	16.9	(240)		
65 - 69	21.9	(14)	16.5	(235)		
70 - 74	9.4	(6)	9.7	(138)		
75 - 79	4.7	(3)	5.6	(79)		
80 and older	1.6	(1)	2.2	(31)		
Lives alone						
No	68.8	(44)	99.8	(1419)	n/a	-
Yes	31.3	(20)	0.2	(3)		
Section B - Intake and Initial History						
Family/friends overwhelmed						
No	93.8	(60)	99.6	(1417)	n/a	-
Yes	6.3	(4)	0.4	(5)		
Support person for discharge						
No	10.9	(7)	4.6	(65)		
Yes	62.5	(40)	0.2	(3)		
Lives in institutional setting	26.2	(17)	95.2	(1354)		
Receiving community health/social services last 90 days						
No	56.3	(36)	4.4	(62)	n/a	-
Yes	17.2	(11)	-	-		
Lives in institutional setting	26.6	(17)	95.6	(1360)		
Acute hospital overnight stay last 90						
days						
No	93.8	(60)	96.6	(1373)	1.40	1
Yes	6.3	(4)	3.4	(49)		

<sup>\*</sup> *p* < .05, \*\**p* < .01, \*\*\**p* < .001

Table C1 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants  $(N = 64)^a$  and older offender institutional population (N = 1,422)

interRAI Assessment		nunity		utional	$\chi^2$	df
	San %	nple (n)	Popi %	ılation (n)		
Emergency department visit last 90 days	/0	(11)	/0	(11)		
No	84.4	(54)	89.5	(1272)	1.643	1
Yes	15.6	(10)	10.5	(150)	1.0.15	•
Physician visits previous 90 days	10.0	(10)	10.5	(150)		
None	28.1	(18)	27.8	(396)	6.412	3
1-2	42.2	(27)	43.6	(620)	01.12	
3-5	14.1	(9)	21.0	(298)		
6 or more	15.6	(10)	7.6	(108)		
Time since last hospital visit previous 90	10.0	(10)	7.0	(100)		
days						
No hospitalization	93.8	(60)	96.3	(1369)	1.057	$1^4$
Yes hospitalization	6.2	(4)	3.7	(53)		
Section C – Clinical Evaluation						
Cognitive skills daily decision-making						
Independent	100.0	(64)	95.1	(1353)	3.257	1
Modified/any impairment	-	-	4.9	(69)		
Ability to understand others						
Understands	95.3	(61)	89.8	(1277)	2.073	$1^{4}$
Usually/most times	4.7	(3)	10.2	(145)		
Acute change in mental status from usual functioning						
No	90.6	(58)	89.9	(1278)	0.038	1
Yes	9.4	(6)	10.1	(144)		
Inappropriate or abusive behaviour last 3 days						
No	100.0	(64)	97.5	(1387)	1.613	1
Yes	-	-	2.5	(35)		
Presence of hallucinations last 24 hours						
Not present	100.0	(64)	95.5	(1358)	2.377	$1^4$
Present	-	-	4.5	(64)		
Presence of delusions last 24 hours						
Not present	100.0	(64)	96.4	(1371)	3.010	$1^4$
Present	-	-	3.6	(51)		

<sup>\*</sup> p < .05, \*\*p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001<sup>4</sup> Categories collapsed to 2 to have sufficient cases in cells to allow for chi-square analysis

Table C1 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants  $(N = 64)^a$  and older offender institutional population (N = 1,422)

interRAI Assessment	Community Institutional Sample Population		$\chi^2$	df		
	%	(n)	%	(n)		
Consumed alcohol to point of intoxication				. ,		
last 7 days						
No	96.9	(62)	99.7	$(1418)^5$	n/a	-
Yes	3.1	(2)	0.3	(4)		
Self-reported mood - little interest or						
pleasure in things you normally enjoy?						
Not in last 3 days	87.5	(56)	87.3	(1241)	0.537	4
Not in last 3 days, but often feels	3.1	(2)	3.3	(47)		
that way						
1-2 of last 3 days	4.7	(3)	3.7	(52)		
Daily in last 3 days	4.7	(3)	5.3	(75)		
No response	-	-	0.5	(7)		
Self-reported mood - anxious, restless or						
uneasy?						
Not in last 3 days	85.9	(55)	68.8	(979)	8.660	4
Not in last 3 days, but often feels	1.6	(1)	5.3	(75)		
1-2 of last 3 days	4.7	(3)	11.7	(166)		
Daily in last 3 days	7.8	(5)	14.1	(201)		
No response	-	-	0.1	(1)		
Self-reported mood - sad, depressed, or hopeless?						
Not in last 3 days	82.8	(53)	74.3	(1056)	2.510	4
Not in last 3 days, but often feels	4.7	(3)	5.7	(81)		
1-2 of last 3 days	6.3	(4)	9.2	(131)		
Daily in last 3 days	6.3	(4)	10.8	(154)		
No response	_	-	_	-		
Self-reported health – in general, rate your own health						
Excellent	12.5	(8)	20.4	(290)	3.312	4
Good	48.4	(31)	46.4	(660)		
Fair	21.9	(14)	21.0	(299)		
Poor	17.2	(11)	12.1	(172)		
No response	_	-	0.1	(1)		
ADL Self-performance and capacity - bathing			0.1	(-)		
Independent or set-up help only	96.9	(62)	98.0	(1393)	0.352	1
Supervision or physical assistance	3.1	(2)	2.0	(29)		

<sup>\*</sup> p < .05, \*\*p < .01, \*\*\*p < .001<sup>5</sup> Given that alcohol is a contraband item within federal institutions, it is not surprising that consumption of alcohol to the point of intoxication occurs so infrequently among the institutional population.

Table C1 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants  $(N = 64)^a$  and older offender institutional population (N = 1,422)

interRAI Assessment	Comn San			utional ılation	$\chi^2$	dj
	%	(n)	%	(n)		
ADL Self-performance and capacity – personal hygiene						
Independent or set-up help only	100.0	(64)	98.2	(1397)	1.797	1
Supervision or physical assistance	100.0	-	1.8	(25)	1.///	1
ADL Self-performance and capacity –		_	1.0	(23)		
dress lower body						
Independent or set-up help only	98.4	(63)	97.7	(1389)	0.157	1
Supervision or physical assistance	1.6	(1)	2.3	(33)		
ADL Self-performance and capacity -		( )		` /		
locomotion						
Independent or set-up help only	96.9	(62)	95.5	(1358)	0.273	1
Supervision or physical assistance	3.1	(2)	4.5	(64)		
IADL Self-performance and capacity – managing medications						
Independent or set-up help only	95.3	(61)	94.8	(1348)	0.033	1
Supervision or any assistance	4.7	(3)	5.2	(74)		
IADL Self-performance and capacity –		( )		,		
stairs						
Independent or set-up help only	95.3	(61)	91.6	(1302)	1.135	]
Supervision or any assistance	4.7	(3)	8.4	(120)		
Falls						
None last 90 days	87.5	(56)	87.1	(1238)	5.478	3
None last 30 days, but fell last 31-90	1.6	(1)	4.6	(65)		
One fall in last 30 days	3.1	(2)	5.1	(73)		
Two or more falls in last 30 days	7.8	(5)	3.2	(46)		
Dyspnea (shortness of breath)						
Absence of symptoms	57.8	(37)	72.9	(1037)	8.037*	3
Absent at rest, present with moderate activity	21.9	(14)	16.0	(228)		
Absent at rest, present with normal activity	14.1	(9)	7.1	(101)		
Present at rest	6.3	(4)	3.9	(56)		

<sup>\*</sup> *p* < .05, \*\**p* < .01, \*\*\**p* < .001

Table C1 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants  $(N = 64)^a$  and older offender institutional population (N = 1,422)

Control DALA		nunity		utional	$\chi^2$	df
interRAI Assessment	San %	nple (n)	Popi %	ılation (n)		
Pain symptoms	70	(11)	70	(11)		
No pain	31.3	(20)	43.7	(622)	6.521	3
Present but not exhibited last 3 days	7.8	(5)	5.2	(74)		
Exhibited on 1-2 of last 3 days	15.6	(10)	7.9	(122)		
Exhibited daily in last 3 days	45.3	(29)	43.2	(614)		
Intensity of highest pain level present						
No pain	29.7	(19)	43.8	(623)	42.566***	4
Mild	6.3	(4)	11.2	(159)		
Moderate	21.9	(14)	23.8	(338)		
Severe	25.0	(16)	18.4	(262)		
Horrible or excruciating	17.2	(11)	2.8	(40)		
Nutritional issues – noticeable decrease food or fluids consumed last 3 days						
No	95.3	(61)	95.4	(1357)	0.002	1
Yes	4.7	(3)	4.6	(65)		
Nutritional issues – noticeable weight loss last 30 – 180 days						
No	85.9	(55)	94.6	(1345)	8.400**	1
Yes	14.1	(9)	5.4	(77)		
Conditions/diseases make cognitive, ADL, mood, behaviour unstable						
No	98.4	(63)	70.4	(1001)	23.687***	1
Yes	1.6	(1)	29.6	(421)		
Traumatic injury						
No	59.4	(38)	68.1	(969)	2.156	1
Yes	40.6	(26)	31.9	(453)		
Section D – Discharge module						
Algorithm scores						
Self-reliance						
0 (is self- reliant)	93.8	(60)	90.4	(1285)	0.817	1
1 (not self-reliant)	6.3	(4)	9.6	(137)		

<sup>\*</sup> *p* < .05, \*\**p* < .01, \*\*\**p* < .001

Table C1 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants  $(N=64)^a$  and older offender institutional population (N=1,422)

		nunity		utional	$\chi^2$	d
interRAI Assessment		nple	_	lation		
	%	(n)	%	(n)		
Assessment urgency						
1 (low)	60.9	(39)	50.3	(715)	3.679	5
2	7.8	(5)	8.9			
3	25.0	(16)	31.2	(443)		
4	4.7	(3)	4.9	(69)		
5	-	-	1.1	(15)		
6 (high)	1.6	(1)	3.7	(53)		
Mood Scale						
0	78.1	(50)	59.6	(848)	15.060	9
1	4.7	(3)	4.9	(70)		
2	3.1	(2)	10.5)	(149		
3	1.6	(1)	7.5	(107)		
4	3.1	(2)	4.0	(57)		
5	-	-	3.1	(44)		
6	3.1	(2)	5.8	(82)		
7	3.1	(2)	1.2	(17)		
8	-	-	0.9	(13)		
9	3.1	(2)	2.5	(35)		
Pain (0-4)		. ,		. ,		
0 (none)	31.3	(20)	43.7	(622)	519.339***	
1	7.8	(5)	13.1	(186)		
2	20.3	(13)	-	-		
3	25.0	(16)	43.2	(614)		
4 (daily, excruciating)	15.6	(10)	-	-		

<sup>\*</sup> *p* < .05, \*\**p* < .01, \*\*\**p* < .001

Table C1 (cont'd) interRAI ED-CA assessment results, community sample participants  $(N = 64)^a$ , and comparison with older offender institutional population (N = 1,422)

interRAI Assessment	Comr	Community		utional	$\chi^2$	df		
	Sample		Sample Population		ole Population			
	%	(n)	%	(n)				
Emergency Department revisit					5.357	4		
risk (1-5)								
1 (low)	75.0	(48)	62.0	(882)				
2	18.8	(12)	31.0	(441)				
3	1.6	(1)	2.2	(31)				
4	1.6	(1)	2.7	(38)				
5 (high)	3.1	(2)	2.1	(30)				
Institutional risk (1-5)								
1	82.8	(53)	82.2	(1169)	3.765	4		
2	3.1	(2)	7.7	(110)				
3	1.6	(1)	2.3	(32)				
4	6.3	(4)	5.7	(81)				
5	4.7	(3)	2.1	(30)				

<sup>\*</sup> *p* < .05, \*\**p* < .01, \*\*\**p* < .001

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>a</sup> One participant did not complete the interRAI ED-CA assessment during the interview, case excluded from table calculations

# Appendix D: Community Sample Participant Responses to Structured Interview Protocol Questions by Gender and Indigenous Ancestry

Table D1 Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions, by gender,  $(N = 65)^b$ 

Category/Question/Response	M	ale	Female	
	%	(n)	%	(n)
Background Information				
Age when most recently incarcerated				
< 50 years	52.6	(30)	37.5	(3)
50-64 years	31.6	(18)	62.5	(5)
65 years or older	14.0	(8)	-	-
How many years have you been in prison on				
(a) most recent incarceration				
less than 5	33.3	(19)	75.0	(6)
5 - 10	15.8	(9)	25.0	(2)
11 - 15	15.8	(9)	-	-
16 - 20	12.3	(7)	-	-
more than 20	21.1	(12)	-	-
(b) total for all incarcerations				
less than 5	29.8	(17)	50.0	(4)
5 - 10	10.5	(6)	25.0	(2)
11 - 15	12.3	(7)	12.5	(1)
16 - 20	14.0	(8)	12.5	(1)
more than 20	29.8	(17)	-	-
Age when most currently released from prison				
Less than 40 years old	10.5	(6)	12.5	(1)
40 - 49	12.3	(7)	-	-
50 - 59	38.6	(22)	50.0	(4)
60 - 69	28.1	(16)	12.5	(1)
70 - 79	8.8	(5)	-	-
80 or older	_			

Table D1 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions, by gender,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Category/Question	Category/Question/Response		ale	Fem	nale
		%	(n)	%	(n)
How long have you been on rele	ease in community				
Less that	an 1 year	28.1	(16)	50.0	(4)
1-5  ye	ears	43.8	(25)	37.5	(3)
6 - 10  y	vears	8.8	(5)	-	-
11 - 15	years	7.0	(4)	12.5	(1)
16 - 20	years	1.8	(1)	-	-
more th	an 20 years	8.8	(5)	-	-
How would you answer this que	stion?				
I have grown old in cust sentence	ody due to serving a lengthy	52.6	(30)	12.5	(1)
	spent much of my adult life in	12.3	(7)	50.0	(4)
	e first time in my 50's or 60's	29.8	(17)	37.5	(3)
Part A – Health and Wellness					
How would you rate your overal	ll health (1-10)?				
1 - 2 (v	ery poor/poor)	3.5	(2)	-	-
3 - 4		12.3	(7)	25.0	(2)
5 – 6		28.1	(16)	25.0	(2)
7 - 8		36.8		50.0	
		(21)		(4)	
9 - 10 (	very good/excellent)	17.5		-	
		(10)			
Any physical conditions limiting	g your activities				
No		35.1		12.5	
		(20)		(1)	
Yes		64.9		87.5	
		(37)		(7)	
Do you have any special dietary	needs?				
No		78.9		50.0	

	(45)	(4)	
Yes	21.1	50.0	
	(12)	(4)	
Do you have a family doctor?			
No	24.6	-	
	(14)		
Yes	75.4	100.0	
	(43)	(8)	

Table D1 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions, by gender,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Category/Question/Response		M	Male		Female	
		%	(n)	%	(r	
Do you take a	ny medications?					
	No	14.0	(8)	-	-	
	Yes	86.0	(49)	100.0	(8	
How many pro	escription medications are you currently taking?	•				
	None	14.0	(8)	-		
	1 - 2	29.8	(17)	12.5	(	
	3 - 4	26.3	(15)	50.0	(4	
	5 - 6	12.3	(7)	12.5	(	
	7 - 8	7.0	(4)	12.5	(	
	More than 8	10.5	(6)	-		
Do you have a	a dentist?					
	No	57.9	(33)	62.5	(.	
	Yes	42.1	(24)	37.5	(.	
Do you have a	a mental health professional that you see?					
	No	59.6	(34)	62.5	(.	
	Yes	40.4	(23)	37.5	(	
Do you have a	an addiction treatment specialist that you see?					
	No	71.9	(41)	75.0	(	
	Yes	28.1	(16)	25.0	(	
How do you th	hink your health needs are being met (1-10)?					
	1 – 2 (very poorly/poorly)	5.3	(3)	12.5	(	
	3 – 4	1.8	(1)	25.0	(2	
	5 – 6	15.8	(9)	-		
	7-8	33.3	(19)	37.5	(.	
	9 – 10 (very well/excellent)	43.8	(25)	25.0	(2	

Table D1 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions, by gender,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Cate	egory/Question/Response	M	ale	Female	
		%	(n)	%	(n)
Part B – Family, Friends a	and Social Relationships				
Do you currently	receive support from family members?				
	No	33.3	(19)	37.5	(3)
	Yes	66.7	(38)	62.5	(5)
Involved in intimation your release?	ate relationship now or at some point during				
·	No	57.9	(33)	75.0	(6)
	Yes	42.1	(24)	25.0	(2)
Do you have any	children?				
	No	28.1	(16)	37.5	(3)
	Yes	71.9	(41)	62.5	(5)
Do you often soci	ialize with friends often?				
	No	35.1	(20)	37.5	(3)
	Yes	64.9	(37)	62.5	(5)
Part C – Housing and Cor	nmunity				
How rate your ex	perience living in community (1-10)?				
	1 − 2 (very poor/poor)	5.3	(3)	-	-
	3 – 4	1.8	(1)	-	-
	5 – 6	7.0	(4)	12.5	(1)
	7 - 8	38.6	(22)	37.5	(3)
	9-10 (very good/excellent)	43.8	(25)	37.5	(3)
Has criminal reco	ord limited ability to function in community?				
	No	42.1	(24)	12.5	(1)
	Yes	57.9	(33)	87.5	(7)
Does your older a community?	age limit your ability to function in the				
•	No	66.7	(38)	87.5	(7)
	Yes	33.3	(19)	12.5	(1)

Table D1 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions, by gender,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Category/Question/Response		M	Male		Female	
		%	(n)	%	(1	
Where you are living now, is it a arrangement?	safe and stable living					
No		5.3	(3)	12.5	(	
Yes		94.7	(54)	87.5	(	
Do you see a time when you will situation?	be living in a supported living	g				
No		63.2	(36)	25.0	(	
Yes		36.8	(21)	75.0	(	
What is highest level of schoolin	g you completed?					
Less tha	n high school	28.1	(16)	12.5	(	
Complet	ed high school	19.3	(11)	37.5	(	
Some co	llege/CGEP/university	15.8	(9)	-		
Complet	ed college/CGEP/Trades	15.8	(9)	37.5	(	
Complet	ed university	21.1	(12)	12.5	(	
Other		-	-	-		
On your release did you find a jo	b in the community					
No		33.3	(19)	25.0	(	
Yes		66.7	(38)	75.0	(	
What is your current employmen	t status?					
Part-tim	e	7.0	(4)	12.5	(	
Full-tim	e	24.6	(14)	50.0	(	
Unempl	oyed	24.6	(14)	12.5	(	
Casual e	mployment	5.3	(3)	-		
Seasona	l employment	-	-	-		
Self-emp	ployed	7.0	(4)	-		
Unable t	o work (disability)	7.0	(4)	25.0	(	
Retired		19.3	(11)	-		
Other		5.3	(3)	-		

Table D1 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions, by gender,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Category/Question/Response		Ma	ale	Female	
		%	(n)	%	(1
Do you have sources of	f income other than job?				
	No	26.3	(15)	62.5	(5
	Yes	73.7	(42)	37.5	(3
What would you estim	ate your annual income to be?				
	Less than \$30,000 per year	68.4	(39)	75.0	((
	\$30,000 per year or more	28.1	(16)	12.5	(
Do you have access to	reliable transportation				
	No	-	-	-	
	Yes	100.0	(57)	100.0	(3
Do you have access to	technology (phone, internet, etc.)				
	No	3.5	(2)	12.5	(
	Yes	96.5	(55)	87.5	(
Following release have CSC programs?	e you been enrolled in or completed any				
	No	50.9	(29)	12.5	(
	Yes	49.1	(28)	87.5	(
Following release have non-CSC programs?	e you been enrolled in or completed any				
1 0	No	56.1	(32)	12.5	(
	Yes	43.9	(25)	87.5	(
Do you continue to see	e a parole officer on a regular basis?				
	No	-	-	-	
	Yes	100.0	(57)	100.0	(8
Is your parole officer s based on your age?	ensitive to any limitations you may have				
	No	42.1	(24)	37.5	(3
	Yes	56.1	(32)	62.5	(5
Are you able to access part of?	leisure activities you would like to be a				
_	No	21.1	(12)	25.0	(2
	Yes	78.9	(45)	75.0	(6

Table D1 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions, by gender,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Category/Question/Response	M	ale	Female	
	%	( <i>n</i> )	%	(n)
Part D – Avoidance of Substance Misuse				
Have you had any issues with substance misuse?				
No	47.4	(27)	50.0	(4)
Yes	52.6	(30)	50.0	(4)
Part E – Personal/Emotional				
Do you feel safe in the community?				
No	3.5	(2)	-	-
Yes	94.7	(54)	100.0	(8)
Have you been a victim of bullying or abuse?				
No	89.5	(51)	87.5	(7)
Yes	8.8	(5)	12.5	(1)
Do you have someone you can reach out to if you need help?				
No	5.3	(3)	-	-
Yes	94.7	(54)	100.0	(8)
Do you think you spend too much time on your own?				
No	73.7	(42)	75.0	(6)
Yes	24.6	(14)	25.0	(2)
Is loneliness a problem for you?				
No	80.7	(46)	75.0	(6)
Yes	17.5	(10)	25.0	(2)
Part F – Connection to Culture/Spirituality				
Do you consider yourself connected to your culture?				
No	38.6	(22)	12.5	(1)
Yes	61.4	(35)	87.5	(7)
Do you consider yourself a religious or spiritual person?				
No	21.1	(12)	-	-
Yes	78.9	(45)	100.0	(8)

Table D1 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions, by gender,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Category/Question/Response	M	Male		male	
	%	(n)	%	(n)	
If you are an Indigenous person, do you use any cultural resources in the community?  Not applicable	66.7	(38)	62.5	(5)	
No No	12.3	(7)	25.0	(5)	
Yes	21.1	(12)	12.5	(1)	

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Missing data <5%

Table D2 Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions by Indigenous ancestry,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Cate	Category/Question/Response		enous	Non-Indigenous	
		%	( <i>n</i> )	%	(n)
Background Information					
Age when most re	ecently incarcerated				
	< 50 years	65.0	(13)	44.4	(20)
	50 – 64 years	30.0	(6)	37.8	(17)
	65 years or older	5.0	(1)	15.6	(7)
How many years	have you been in prison on				
(a) n	nost recent incarceration				
	less than 5	20.0	(4)	46.7	(21)
	5 - 10	10.0	(2)	20.0	(9)
	11 - 15	5.0	(1)	17.8	(8)
	16 - 20	20.0	(4)	6.7	(3)
	more than 20	40.0	(8)	8.9	(4)
(b) to	otal for all incarcerations				
	less than 5	10.0	(2)	42.2	(19)
	5 - 10	5.0	(1)	15.6	(7)
	11 - 15	15.0	(3)	11.1	(5)
	16 - 20	20.0	(4)	11.1	(5)
	more than 20	40.0	(8)	20.0	(9)
Age when most c	urrently released from prison				
	Less than 40 years old	10.0	(2)	11.1	(5)
	40 – 49	15.0	(3)	8.9	(4)
	50 – 59	50.0	(10)	40.0	(18)
	60 - 69	15.0	(3)	31.1	(14)
	70 – 79	10.0	(2)	6.7	(3)
	80 or older	-	-	-	-

Table D2 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions by Indigenous ancestry,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Category/Question/Response		enous	Non-Indigenous	
	%	(n)	%	(n)
How long have you been on release in community				
Less than 1 year	30.0	(6)	31.1	(14)
1-5 years	40.0	(8)	44.4	(20)
6-10 years	15.0	(3)	4.4	(2)
11-15 years	10.0	(2)	6.7	(3)
16-20 years	-	-	2.2	(1)
more than 20 years	5.0	(1)	8.9	(4)
How would you answer this question?				
I have grown old in custody due to serving a lengthy sentence	65.0	(13)	40.0	(18)
Multiple admission and spent much of my adult life in custody	25.0	(5)	13.3	(6)
Was incarcerated for the first time in my 50's or 60's	10.0	(2)	40.0	(18)
A – Health and Wellness				
How would you rate your overall health (1-10)?				
1-2 (very poor/poor)	5.0	(1)	2.2	(1)
3-4	25.0	(5)	8.9	(4)
5 - 6	25.0	(5)	28.9	(13)
7-8	35.0	(7)	40.0	(18)
9 – 10 (very good/excellent)	10.0	(2)	17.8	(8)
Any physical conditions limiting your activities				
No	60.0	(12)	71.1	(32)
Yes	40.0	(8)	28.9	(13)
Do you have any special dietary needs?				
No	65.0	(13)	80.0	(36)
Yes	35.0	(7)	20.0	(9)
Do you have a family doctor?				
No	35.0	(7)	15.6	(7)
Yes	65.0	(13)	84.4	(38)

Table D2 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions by Indigenous ancestry,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Category/Question/Response		Indigenous		Non-Indigenous	
		%	(n)	%	( <i>n</i> )
Do you take any medicati	ions?				
N	Vo	25.0	(5)	6.7	(3)
Y	Yes	75.0	(15)	93.3	(42)
How many prescription n	nedications are you currently taking?				
Ν	None	25.0	(5)	6.7	(3)
1	- 2	30.0	(6)	26.7	(12)
3	5 - 4	10.0	(2)	37.8	(17)
5	5 - 6	25.0	(5)	6.7	(3)
7	′ - 8	5.0	(1)	8.9	(4)
N	More than 8	-	-	13.3	(6)
Do you have a dentist?					
Ν	No	60.0	(12)	57.8	(26)
Y	Yes	40.0	(8)	42.2	(19)
Do you have a mental hea	alth professional that you see?				
N	No	55.0	(11)	62.2	(28)
Y	Yes	45.0	(9)	37.8	(17)
Do you have an addiction	treatment specialist that you see?				
N	No	60.0	(12)	77.8	(35)
Y	Yes	40.0	(8)	22.2	(10)
How do you think your h	ealth needs are being met (1-10)?				
1	-2 (very poorly/poorly)	15.0	(3)	2.2	(1)
3	3 - 4	5.0	(1)	4.4	(2)
5	5 – 6	25.0	(5)	8.9	(4)
7	′ – 8	15.0	(3)	42.2	(19)
Ç	0 – 10 (very well/excellent)	40.0	(8)	42.2	(19)

Table D2 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions by Indigenous ancestry,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Category/Que	stion/Response	Indig	enous	Non-Indigenous	
		%	( <i>n</i> )	%	( <i>n</i> )
Part B – Family, Friends and Social	Relationships				
Do you currently receive su	apport from family members?				
No		30.0	(6)	35.6	(16)
Ye	s	70.0	(14)	64.4	(29)
Involved in intimate relation your release?	nship now or at some point during				
No		80.0	(16)	51.1	(23)
Ye	s	20.0	(4)	48.9	(22)
Do you have any children?					
No		25.0	(5)	31.1	(14)
Ye	S	75.0	(15)	68.9	(31)
Do you often socialize with	friends often?				
No		40.0	(8)	33.3	(15)
Ye	S	60.0	(12)	66.7	(30)
Part C – Housing and Community					
How rate your experience li	iving in community (1-10)?				
1 –	2 (very poor/poor)	10.0	(2)	2.2	(1)
3 –	4	-	-	2.2	(1)
5 –	- 6	5.0	(1)	8.9	(4)
7 –	8	15.0	(3)	48.9	(22)
9 –	10 (very good/excellent)	65.0	(13)	33.3	(15)
Has criminal record limited	ability to function in community?				
No		45.0	(9)	35.6	(16)
Ye	S	55.0	(11)	64.4	(29)
Does your older age limit y community?	our ability to function in the				
No		70.0	(14)	68.9	(31)
Ye	S	30.0	(6)	31.1	(14)

Table D2 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions by Indigenous ancestry,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Category/Question/Response		Indig	enous	Non-Indigenou	
		% (n)	% ( <i>n</i> )		
Where you are arrangement?	living now, is it a safe and stable living				
	No	10.0	(2)	4.4	(2)
	Yes	90.0	(18)	95.6	(43)
Do you see a ti situation?	me when you will be living in a supported living	g			
	No	75.0	(15)	51.1	(23)
	Yes	25.0	(5)	48.9	(22)
What is highes	t level of schooling you completed?				
	Less than high school	35.0	(7)	22.2	(10)
	Completed high school	25.0	(5)	20.0	(9)
	Some college/CGEP/university	15.0	(3)	13.3	(6)
	Completed college/CGEP/Trades	20.0	(4)	17.8	(8)
	Completed university	5.0	(1)	26.7	(12)
	Other	-	-	-	-
On your releas	e did you find a job in the community				
	No	30.0	(6)	33.3	(15)
	Yes	70.0	(14)	66.7	(30)
What is your c	urrent employment status?				
	Part-time	10.0	(2)	6.7	(3)
	Full-time	30.0	(6)	26.7	(12)
	Unemployed	15.0	(3)	26.7	(12)
	Casual employment	5.0	(1)	4.4	(2)
	Seasonal employment	-	-	-	-
	Self-employed	5.0	(1)	6.7	(3)
	Unable to work (disability)	10.0	(2)	8.9	(4)
	Retired	25.0	(5)	13.3	(6)
	Other	-	_	6.7	(3)

Table D2 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions by Indigenous ancestry,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Category/Question/Response	Indi	genous	Non-Indigenou	
		(n)	%	(n)
Do you have sources of income other than job?				
No	30.0	(6)	31.1	(14
Yes	70.0	(14)	68.9	(31
What would you estimate your annual income to	to be?			
Less than \$30,000 per	year 55.0	(11)	75.6	(34
\$30,000 per year or mo	ore 35.0	(7)	22.2	(10
Do you have access to reliable transportation				
No	-	-	-	-
Yes	100.0	(20)	100.0	(45
Do you have access to technology (phone, inter	rnet, etc.)			
No	-	-	6.7	(3)
Yes	100.0	(20)	93.3	(42
Following release have you been enrolled in or CSC programs?	completed any			
No	40.0	(8)	48.9	(22
Yes	60.0	(12)	51.1	(23
Following release have you been enrolled in or non-CSC programs?	completed any			
No	25.0	(5)	62.2	(28
Yes	75.0	(15)	37.8	(17
Do you continue to see a parole officer on a reg	gular basis?			
No	-	-	-	-
Yes	100.0	(20)	100.0	(45
Is your parole officer sensitive to any limitation based on your age?	ns you may have			
No	35.0	(7)	44.4	(20
Yes	65.0	(13)	53.3	(24
Are you able to access leisure activities you we part of?	ould like to be a			
No	20.0	(4)	22.2	(10
Yes	80.0	(16)	77.8	(35

Table D2 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions by Indigenous ancestry,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Category/Question/Response	Indigenous		Non-Indigenous	
	%	(n)	%	(n)
Part D – Avoidance of Substance Misuse				
Have you had any issues with substance misuse?				
No	25.0	(5)	57.8	(26)
Yes	75.0	(15)	42.2	(19)
Part E – Personal/Emotional				
Do you feel safe in the community?				
No	5.0	(1)	2.2	(1)
Yes	90.0	(18)	97.8	(44)
Have you been a victim of bullying or abuse?				
No	90.0	(18)	88.9	(40)
Yes	5.0	(1)	11.1	(5)
Do you have someone you can reach out to if you need help?				
No	5.0	(1)	4.4	(2)
Yes	95.0	(19)	95.6	(43)
Do you think you spend too much time on your own?				
No	65.0	(13)	77.8	(35)
Yes	35.0	(7)	20.0	(9)
Is loneliness a problem for you?				
No	70.0	(14)	84.4	(38)
Yes	30.0	(6)	13.3	(6)
Part F – Connection to Culture/Spirituality				
Do you consider yourself connected to your culture?				
No	20.0	(4)	42.2	(19)
Yes	80.0	(16)	57.8	(26)
Do you consider yourself a religious or spiritual person?				
No	20.0	(4)	17.8	(8)
Yes	80.0	(16)	82.2	(37)

Table D2 (cont'd) Community sample participant responses to structured interview protocol questions by Indigenous ancestry,  $(N=65)^b$ 

Category/Question/Response	Indige	Indigenous		ligenous
	%	(n)	%	( <i>n</i> )
If you are an Indigenous person, do you use any cultural resources in the community?				
Not applicable	-	-	95.6	(43)
No	40.0	(8)	2.2	(1)
Yes	60.0	(12)	2.1	(1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>b</sup> Missing data <5%